
 

   
 

County Hall, New Road, Oxford, OX1 1ND 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk  Fax: 01865 783195  Media Enquiries 01865 323870 

To: Members of the Oxfordshire Health & Wellbeing Board 
 

Notice of a Meeting of the Oxfordshire Health & 
Wellbeing Board 

 

Thursday, 8 January 2015 at 1.30 pm or on the rising of Performance 
Scrutiny Committee, whichever is the later 

 

Rooms 1&2 - County Hall, New Road, Oxford OX1 1ND 

 

Membership 
Chairman – Councillor Ian Hudspeth (Leader, Oxfordshire County Council (OCC)) 

Vice Chairman - Dr Joe McManners (Clinical Chair, Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group 
(OCCG)) 

Board Members: 
 

Councillor Mark Booty 
(West Oxfordshire District Council) 

Chairman of the Health Improvement Partnership Board 

Councillor Mrs Judith Heathcoat 
(Oxfordshire County Council) 

Chairman of the Older People’s Joint Management Group 

Councillor Hilary Hibbert-Biles Cabinet Member for Public Health & Voluntary Sector 

John Jackson Director forAdult Social Services 

Dr Matthew Gaw Vice-Chairman of the Children’s Trust 

Jim Leivers Director for Children, Education & Families 

Dr Jonathan McWilliam Director of Public Health 

Dr Paul Park Vice-Chairman of the Older People’s Joint Management 
Group 

Matthew Tait Area Director, Thames Valley NHS Commissioning Board 

Councillor Melinda Tilley 
(Oxfordshire County Council) 

Chairman of the Children’s Trust 

Councillor Ed Turner 
(Oxford City Council) 

Vice Chairman of the Health Improvement Partnership Board 

Jean Nunn-Price Chair of Healthwatch Oxfordshire 
 
In Attendance: Joanna Simons, Chief Executive, OCC: David Smith, Chief Executive, OCCG 
 
Notes:• Date of next meeting: 5 March 2015 

 
Peter G. Clark  
County Solicitor December 2014  
  
Contact Officer: Julie Dean, Tel: (01865) 815322 

julie.dean@oxfordshire.gov.uk 

Public Document Pack



 

 

 

Declarations of Interest 
 
The duty to declare….. 
Under the Localism Act 2011 it is a criminal offence to 
(a) fail to register a disclosable pecuniary interest within 28 days of election or co-option (or re-

election or re-appointment), or 
(b) provide false or misleading information on registration, or 
(c) participate in discussion or voting in a meeting on a matter in which the member or co-opted 

member has a disclosable pecuniary interest. 

Whose Interests must be included? 
The Act provides that the interests which must be notified are those of a member or co-opted 
member of the authority, or 
• those of a spouse or civil partner of the member or co-opted member; 
• those of a person with whom the member or co-opted member is living as husband/wife 
• those of a person with whom the member or co-opted member is living as if they were civil 

partners. 
(in each case where the member or co-opted member is aware that the other person has the 
interest). 

What if I remember that I have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest during the Meeting?. 
The Code requires that, at a meeting, where a member or co-opted member has a disclosable 
interest (of which they are aware) in any matter being considered, they disclose that interest to 
the meeting. The Council will continue to include an appropriate item on agendas for all 
meetings, to facilitate this. 

Although not explicitly required by the legislation or by the code, it is recommended that in the 
interests of transparency and for the benefit of all in attendance at the meeting (including 
members of the public) the nature as well as the existence of the interest is disclosed. 

A member or co-opted member who has disclosed a pecuniary interest at a meeting must not 
participate (or participate further) in any discussion of the matter; and must not participate in any 
vote or further vote taken; and must withdraw from the room. 

Members are asked to continue to pay regard to the following provisions in the code that “You 
must serve only the public interest and must never improperly confer an advantage or 
disadvantage on any person including yourself” or “You must not place yourself in situations 
where your honesty and integrity may be questioned…..”. 

Please seek advice from the Monitoring Officer prior to the meeting should you have any doubt 
about your approach. 

List of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests: 
Employment (includes“any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit 
or gain”.), Sponsorship, Contracts, Land, Licences, Corporate Tenancies, Securities. 

For a full list of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and further Guidance on this matter please see 
the Guide to the New Code of Conduct and Register of Interests at Members’ conduct guidelines. 
http://intranet.oxfordshire.gov.uk/wps/wcm/connect/occ/Insite/Elected+members/ or contact 
Glenn Watson on (01865) 815270 or glenn.watson@oxfordshire.gov.uk for a hard copy of the 
document. 
 
 

If you have any special requirements (such as a large print version of 
these papers or special access facilities) please contact the officer 
named on the front page, but please give as much notice as possible 
before the meeting. 



 

 

 

AGENDA 
 
 

1. Welcome by Chairman, Councillor Ian Hudspeth  
 

2. Apologies for Absence and Temporary Appointments  
 

3. Declarations of Interest - see guidance note opposite  
 

4. Petitions and Public Address  
 

5. Better Care Fund 2014/15 and 2015/16 (Pages 1 - 98) 
 

 Following previous consideration at meetings held on 4 April 20114, 17 July 2014 and 
16 September 2014, the Better Care Fund Plan 2014/15 and 2015/16 is now attached 
in the form of a covering report (HWB5); a narrative template including detailed 
schemes (Appendix A); and a qualitative template including expenditure, benefits and 
performance metrics (Appendix B). 
 
Please note that Annex 2 of the narrative document will be forwarded on as an 
Addendum next week once all parties have had the opportunity to formally sign the 
document off. 
 
The Board is RECOMMENDED to agree the Better Care Fund Plan 2014/15 and 
2015/16 for submission to NHS England by 9 January 2015, subject to the 
inclusion of any changes following the meeting, as agreed by the Chairman and 
Vice-Chairman of the Board. 
 
 

  
 



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 5 
 

OXFORDSHIRE HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD – 8 JANUARY 
2015 

 
BETTER CARE FUND 

 
Purpose 
 

1. The purpose of this paper is to seek agreement on the proposed use of the Better 
Care Fund in Oxfordshire, prior to submission to NHS England by 9 January 
2015.  
 

2. It is a Government requirement that plans are agreed by the Health and 
Wellbeing Board prior to submission.  

 
Background to the Fund 

 
3. The Better Care Fund will total approximately £37.5 million in Oxfordshire from 

2015/16 onwards, and is not new money as it will be reallocated from within the 
health and social care system. 
 

4. However, a significant proportion may be newly accessible to adult social care, 
and can be used to protect services where it can also be demonstrated that there 
are benefits to health. 

 
5. The remainder of the Better Care Fund includes existing funding for carers 

breaks, reablement and capital (including Disabled Facilities Grants), and these 
will be protected. It also includes some elements of funding to meet the impact of 
changes on adult social care proposed in the Care Bill (approx. £1.35m).  

 
6. The Better Care Fund forms a key element of the Clinical Commissioning 

Group’s planning framework, and links closely to the operational and strategic 
plan. The proposed plan also aligns closely to the Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy 2012-2016, Joint Strategic Needs Assessment, Older People’s Joint 
Commissioning Strategy 2013-2017 and the Directorate Business Strategy for 
Adult Social Care 2014/15-2017/18.   

 
7. It is important to understand that the resources for the Fund have to come from 

existing spending on health and social care. This will be a significant challenge 
for the health and social care system in Oxfordshire given the current pressures it 
faces. 

 
8. There is an element of the Better Care Fund for Oxfordshire that comes from 

other Clinical Commissioning Groups. This reflects differences in County and 
Clinical Commissioning Group boundaries, and includes £353,000 from Swindon 
Clinical Commissioning Group as Shrivenham is in their area and £424,000 from 
Aylesbury Vale Clinical Commissioning Group as Thame is in their area. 
Discussions have been held with both Groups, and proposals in our plans have 
been aligned with their intentions to ensure that both areas benefit equally and 
are not adversely affected by falling across more than one Better Care Fund plan.  

Agenda Item 5

Page 1



Page 2 of 5 
 

 
Context in Oxfordshire 
 

9. Oxfordshire originally submitted a proposed Better Care Fund Plan on 4th April 
2014, following agreement by County Council Cabinet, Clinical Commissioning 
Group Governing Body, and the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

 
10. Subsequently, there was much debate nationally about the likely impact of Better 

Care Fund plans on NHS providers of acute services, and in particular the extent 
to which they would reduce emergency admissions to hospital.  

 
11. The Department of Health therefore requested updated plans be submitted to 

more fully address these concerns by 19 September 2014, and issued updated 
guidance and technical requirements in July and August 2014.  

 
12. The most significant change was the requirement to include a performance-

related funding element for achieving a reduction in emergency admissions to 
hospital during 2015/16. The guidance also retains an emphasis on the need to 
protect adult social care services, and how the increased costs of implementing 
the Care Act from April 2015 will be met. 

 
13. The Board discussed the Better Care Fund at the specially arranged meeting in 

September. The Board agreed that it was not possible to submit a credible plan 
by the deadline set by Government due to the specific financial challenges in the 
county, the timetable for introducing outcome based contracting, and recent 
increases in the rate of emergency admissions. 

 
14. An overview paper was submitted to Department of Health, setting out the local 

health and social care system’s support for the principles of the Better Care 
Fund, the challenges faced locally and the commitment of all partners to work 
together to address them. The paper also provided a summary of the work 
already underway to address the national conditions set in the Fund, and a 
timetable by which a more detailed plan would be developed.  

 
15. The national assurance process of Better Care Fund Plans announced the 

Oxfordshire is one of five areas where a Better Care Fund Plan has not been 
approved (along with Essex, Northamptonshire, Lancashire and London Borough 
of Hillingdon). The decision was in line with our expectations given the decision 
not to submit a full plan in September. 

 
16. Oxfordshire has therefore been required to produce a fully developed plan for 

submission by 9 January 2015. This plan will then be subject to another national 
assurance process to grant approval in time to begin implementation in April. 

 
Better Care Fund Plan for Oxfordshire 

 
17. The proposed Better Care Fund Plan for Oxfordshire responds to Government 

guidance and requirements, and sets out how Health & Social Care will work 
together in Oxfordshire to improve services for local people. 
 

Page 2



Page 3 of 5 
 

18. The proposed plan is attached in two parts: 
o Appendix A (narrative template including detailed schemes) and  
o Appendix B (quantitative template including expenditure, benefits and 

performance metrics). 
 

19. The four key organisations (County Council, Clinical Commissioning Group, 
Oxford University Hospitals Trust and Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust) have 
worked closely together in developing and agreeing the proposed Better Care 
Fund Plan for Oxfordshire. We have also drawn extensively on the support 
provided by the National Better Care Fund programme.  
 

20. We are proposing that the focus of the Better Care Fund is predominantly on 
meeting the needs of older people, given this is the most significant pressure 
facing both health and social care in Oxfordshire. However, some cross-cutting 
initiatives will benefit adults of all ages including people with mental health needs. 

 
21. The shared vision in the plan is: 

 
To support and promote strong communities so that people live their lives as 
successfully, independently and safely as possible. We believe that people 

themselves, regardless of age or ability, are best placed to determine what help they 
need. The role of health and social care commissioners and providers is to ensure 
that everyone who needs it has access to the right care, in the right place, at the 

right time, first time. 
 
22. The plan also identifies 8 key design principles, and 11 schemes that will be the 

focus of how the Better Care Fund money will be spent in Oxfordshire: 
 
Principles Schemes 
1. Integration 
2. Enhancing self-management 
3. Rapid access to community/primary 

care based urgent care 24/7 
4. Care closer to home 
5. Ambulatory Emergency Care 
6. Reducing delayed transfers of care 
7. The Oxfordshire Joint Older People’s 

Strategy (Outcomes-based 
Commissioning) 2012-2016 

8. Protecting Adult Social Care 
 

1. Expanding emergency medical units 
(EMUs). 

2. Enhancing reablement services. 
3. Reducing delayed transfers of care. 
4. Ambulatory emergency care 

pathways. 
5. Integrated neighbourhood teams. 
6. Care closer to home (advance care 

plans/EoLC and proactive medical 
support to care homes). 

7. Hospital at Home. 
8. Oxfordshire Care Summary: proactive 

care planning. 
9. Protecting Adult Social Care. 
10. Care Act Implementation. 
11. Carers Breaks. 
 

 
23. There are a number of key performance indicators already identified as priorities 

in Oxfordshire that are required to meet Government guidance on the outcomes 

Page 3



Page 4 of 5 
 

the Fund should achieve, and that are included in the Oxfordshire Joint Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy:   
   

o Reduce the number of older people per year permanently admitted to a 
care home Increase proportion of people who complete reablement who 
need no on-going care  

o Reduce the number of patients delayed for transfer or discharge from 
hospital so that Oxfordshire’s performance is out of the bottom quartile  

o Reduce the number of emergency admissions to hospital for older people 
aged 60+  

o Achieve  above the national average of people very satisfied with the care 
and support they receive from adult social care 

o Achieve above the national average of people satisfied with their 
experience of hospital care 

o Achieve above the national average of people ‘very satisfied’ with their 
experience of their GP surgery 

 
24. The plan identifies a number of risks that will need to be managed.  These risks 

reflect the combination of relatively low resources, relatively low use of bed based 
care but increasing demands.  More information was set out in the paper that was 
considered by the Board at its meeting in September 2014.  To help manage this 
situation, a System Leadership Group is being established.  More details are set 
out in the draft Better Care Fund Plan.  We shall also need to consider how we 
use the limited resources available in Oxfordshire for health and social care to 
best effect building on the work that we have already done in pooling significant 
resources already. 

 
Next Steps 

 
25. The agreed plan will be submitted to NHS England on 9 January 2015, and will 

then be subject to a full national assurance process. 
 

26. Correspondence from NHS England has stressed that if a plan is not agreed 
locally in the required timescales, or NHS England do not approve it following 
submission in January, they have the power to withhold or recover funding or to 
direct the Clinical Commissioning Group to spend it in a particular way. This only 
applies to funding routed directly through the Clinical Commissioning Group 
(approx. £33m), so would not include the Disabled Facilities Grant and Social 
Care Capital Grant funding (approx. £4m) that will be paid directly to Oxfordshire 
County Council. 
 

27. Assuming that the plan is approved, work will continue to develop full 
implementation plans for each of the schemes by April 2015.  

 
28. This work will also align closely to the development of a Single Health and Social 

Care Plan for Oxfordshire, which will be key in setting out how organisations will 
respond jointly to the challenges facing the local system. 

 
29. Progress in implementing the Better Care Fund Plan will be monitored through 

the outcomes reporting to Health and Wellbeing Board, and through the 

Page 4



Page 5 of 5 
 

performance reports presented to the Older People’s Joint Management Group 
on a regular basis. It is also proposed that the plan will be brought back to the 
Health and Wellbeing Board in March 2015 prior to implementation. 
 
Recommendations 

 
30. The Health and Wellbeing Board is RECOMMENDED to agree the Better 

Care Fund Plan 2014/15 and 2015/16 for submission to NHS England by 9 
January 2015, subject to the inclusion of any changes following the 
meeting, as agreed by the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Board. 

 
 
 
JOHN JACKSON    David Smith 
Director of Adult Social Services  Chief Executive 
Oxfordshire County Council  Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group 
 
Background papers:  None 
 
Contact Officer:  
Ben Threadgold, Policy and Performance Service Manager,( 01865) 328219 
  
 
January 2015 
 
 

Page 5



Page 6

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 78 
 

 

        
  
  
Oxfordshire Better Care Fund submission – January 2015 
 
Better Care Fund planning template – Part 1 
 
Please note, there are two parts to the Better Care Fund planning template. Both 
parts must be completed as part of your Better Care Fund Submission. Part 2 is in 
Excel and contains metrics and finance.  
 
Both parts of the plans are to be submitted as attachments to 
bettercarefund@dh.gsi.gov.uk as well as to the relevant NHS England Area Team 
and Local Government representative.  
 
To find your relevant Area Team and local government representative, and for 
additional support, guidance and contact details, please see the Better Care Fund 
pages on the NHS England or LGA websites. 
 
1) PLAN DETAILS 
 
a) Summary of Plan 

 
Local Authority Oxfordshire County Council 
  

Clinical Commissioning Groups NHS Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group 
(lead submission) 

 NHS Swindon Clinical Commissioning Group 

 NHS Aylesbury Vale Clinical Commissioning 
Group 

  

Boundary Differences 

Thame, Shrivenham – addressed by sharing 
plan with relevant CCGs (Aylesbury Vale CCG 
and Swindon CCG respectively) for these areas 
and ensuring equity of delivery across the 
county as a whole  

  
Date agreed at Health and Well-Being Board:  8 January 2015 
  
Date submitted: 9 January 2015 
  

Minimum required value of BCF  pooled budget: 
2014/15  £10,503,000.00 

2015/16 £37,574,000.00 
 
b) Authorisation and signoff 
Signed on behalf of the Clinical Commissioning 
Group NHS Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group 

Page 7



Page 2 of 78 
 

 

By 

 
 
 
 
 
Dr Joe McManners 

Position Clinical Chair 
Date  
 
Signed on behalf of the Clinical Commissioning 
Group NHS Swindon Clinical Commissioning Group 

By 

 
 
 
 
 

Position  
Date  
 
 
Signed on behalf of the Clinical Commissioning 
Group 

NHS Aylesbury Vale Clinical 
Commissioning Group 

By 

 
 
 
 
 

Position  
Date  
 
 
Signed on behalf of the Council and the Health 
and Wellbeing Board 

Oxfordshire County Council and the Oxfordshire 
Health and Wellbeing Board 

By 

 
 
 
 
 
Cllr Ian Hudspeth 

Position 
Leader of the Council and Chairman of Health and 
Wellbeing Board 

Date  
 

 
 
c) Related documentation 
Please include information/links to any related documents such as the full project 
plan for the scheme, and documents related to each national condition. 
 
 
Document or information title. Synopsis and links. 

Oxfordshire's Joint Health and Well-being 
Strategy 2012 – 2016 (Revised June 
2014) 

3 year vision and joint strategy for 
improving the health of Oxfordshire 
residents as defined by the Health and 
Well-being Board (Oxfordshire County 

Page 8



Page 3 of 78 
 

 

Council). 

NHS England: Emergency Admissions for 
Ambulatory Care Sensitive Conditions 
(ACSC) – Characteristics and trends at a 
National level (March 2014) 

NHS England sponsored research that 
identifies 5 long-term condition ACSCs 
and 7 acute condition ACSCs, most likely 
to result in a non-elective admission (NHS 
England). 

Older People' Joint Commissioning 
Strategy 2012-2016 

A commissioning strategy focused on 
delivering improvements for older people 
in Oxfordshire underpinned by an 
outcomes-based commissioning approach 
(Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning 
Group). 

Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning 
Group (OCCG) Strategy 2014/15-
2018/19.  
 

This document sets out the strategic 
intent of Oxfordshire CCG to reform the 
health and social care system in 
Oxfordshire, through improving system 
leadership and by developing a whole-
systems, partnership approach to creating 
financially viable, sustainable and high 
quality provision that will meet the 
changing needs of Oxfordshire's 
population over the next 5 years and 
beyond (Oxfordshire Clinical 
Commissioning Group). 

Report on the Oxfordshire Care Summary.  

The Oxfordshire Delayed Transfers of 
Care Plan (December 2014). 

Plan to address the main reasons for 
delayed transfers of care in the acute 
sector (Oxfordshire Clinical 
Commissioning Group). 

Oxfordshire patient choice, equity and fair 
access policy (August 2014). 

Joint policy designed to support patients 
and their families regarding choice of 
ongoing care (Oxford Health NHS 
Foundation Trust). 

Most capable provider assessment for 
older people’s services (August 2014). 

Joint venture between OUH and OHFT in 
response to OCCGs outcomes-based 
commissioning intentions for older people 
(Oxford University Hospitals NHS Trust 
and Oxford Health NHS Foundation 
Trust). 

  

Page 9



Page 4 of 78 
 

 

Oxfordshire Better Care Fund 
 

January 2015 
Planning Template – Part 1 

 
1) Executive Summary 

 
Oxfordshire’s Better Care Fund (BCF) Plan sets out our vision and strategy for 
transforming the system to optimise patients’ receiving the right care, in the right 
place and at the right time, first time.  
 
Our plan is focused on addressing our performance in respect of failing to meet the 
95% A&E target, and on our enduring track record of unacceptable delays in hospital 
transfer.  As a whole-system we have signed up to a 2% reduction in non-elective 
care and have chosen to invest circa £37.5m in schemes that will improve our 
performance in this regard.  The principles underpinning our schemes are designed 
to: 

• Integrate services across organisational/sector boundaries, 
• Enhance individual self-care management, 
• Provide rapid access to community/primary care based urgent care 24/7, 
• Provide a greater range of services closer to home, 
• Increase the number of patients who can be managed on ambulatory care 

pathways, and 
• Reduce delayed transfers of care in the acute sector. 

 
We have committed to protecting adult social care with an investment of £8m, and 
we will be allocating £1.35m to support the implementation of the Care Act 2014.  
 
We have reinforced the governance supporting our plans through the Health and 
Wellbeing Board, by implementing robust leadership of the system through our 
System Leadership Group. 
 
Our BCF plan is aligned to our strategic commissioning plans across the system 
including the health and wellbeing strategy, and Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning 
Group’s (OCCGs) 5 year strategic plan.  Our plans will be refreshed annually to 
incorporate local learning and experience, and in line with national guidance in 
respect of the 5 year Forward View (NHS England,October 2014). 
 
By 2019 delivering our vision for Oxfordshire’s citizens will mean achieving our 
priority targets including: 

• Reducing the proportion of people who are inappropriately admitted to hospital 
when other sources of care could have been available; 

• Reducing the proportion who spend longer in hospital than they need to; 
• Reducing the proportion of people admitted to residential and care homes across 

Oxfordshire. 

 

Page 10



Page 5 of 78 
 

 

2) Vision for Health and Care Services 
 
a) Drawing on your JSNA, JHWS and patient and service user feedback, please 
describe the vision for health and social care services for this community for 
2019/20 
 

Our Vision in Oxfordshire 
 

To support and promote strong communities so that people live their lives as 
successfully, independently and safely as possible. We believe that people 

themselves, regardless of age or ability, are best placed to determine what help they 
need. The role of health and social care commissioners and providers is to ensure 

that everyone who needs it has access to the right care, in the right place, at the right 
time, first time. 

 
The Oxfordshire Context 
The Oxfordshire Health and Social Care partnership landscape comprises 
commissioners: Oxfordshire County Council (OCC), 5 district authorities and 
Oxfordshire CCG; and providers: Oxford University Hospital NHS Trust (OUH), 
Oxford Health Foundation NHS Trust (OHFT) (provider of community and mental 
health NHS services) and 82 GP practices.  In addition the health and social care 
system are reliant on the independent sector for domiciliary home care and 
residential care and nursing home provision. 
 
Oxfordshire has a population of approximately 655,000.  At the time of the 2011 
Census, Oxfordshire’s population was forecast to grow by 93,000 (14%) over 15 
years reaching 748,000 by 2026.  The proportion of the population above 65 years is 
forecast to increase from 16% in 2011 to over 20% by 2026, whilst the proportion of 
working age is forecast to fall.  Forecast increases are most dramatic in the oldest 
groups: 66% growth in the 75+ group (from 50,000 in 2011 to 82,000 by 2026) and 
69% growth for the 85+ group (up from 15,000 in 2011 to 25,000 in 2026). The rate 
of growth among these age groups is predicted to be highest in rural areas of the 
county, with numbers remaining relatively constant in Oxford City1. 
 
This makes the delivery of the BCF plan a key priority in ensuring a sustainable 
health and social care system for the future. 
 

                                            
1 2014 Housing led Population Forecasts, Research and Intelligence Team. 

Page 11



Page 6 of 78 
 

 

 
 
As we face up to the scale of the challenge for improving care in Oxfordshire, we are 
committed to involving and consulting our population on the outcomes that matter to 
them, through the Older People’s Joint Commissioning Strategy 2012 – 2016 which 
was widely consulted on in January 2012.  The primary outcomes that we want all 
our older residents to be able to say are: 
 

• I can take part in a range of activities and services that help me stay well 
and be part of a supportive community. 

• I get the care and support I need in the most appropriate way 
and at the right time. 

• When I am in hospital or longer term care it is because I need to be there. 
While I am there, I receive high quality care and am discharged home when I 
am ready. 

• As a carer, I am supported in my caring role. 
• If living with dementia, I and my carers receive good advice and support 

early on and I get the right help at the right time to live well. 
• I see health and social care services working well together. 

 
The Oxfordshire Joint Strategic Needs Assessment2 (JSNA) states that by 2016:  

• more children and young people will lead healthy, safe lives and will be given 
the opportunity to develop the skills, confidence and opportunities they need 
to achieve their full potential;  

• more adults will have the support they need to live their lives as healthily, 
successfully, independently and safely as possible, with good timely access to 
health and social care services;  

• everyone will be given the opportunity to voice their opinions and experiences 

                                            
2 Oxfordshire’s Joint Health and Well-being Strategy 20112-2016 (Revised 
June 2014). 

Page 12



Page 7 of 78 
 

 

to ensure that services meet their individual needs;  
• the best possible services will be provided within the resources we have, 

giving excellent value for the public.  
 

These principles have been aligned to the strategic objectives for the Oxfordshire 
health and social care system enshrined in the OCCG Strategy 2014/15-2018/19.  
The document sets out a 5 year commitment to ensuring that the health and social 
care system will: 
 

• Be financially sustainable.  
• Be delivering fully integrated care, close to home, for the frail elderly and 

people with multiple physical and/or mental health needs.  
• Have a primary care service that is driving development and delivery of this 

integrated care, and is itself offering a broader range of services at a different 
scale.  

• Routinely enable people to live well at home and to avoid admission to 
hospital when this is in their best interests.  

• Be continuing to provide preventative care and to tackle health inequalities for 
patients and carers in both its urban and rural communities.  

• Be providing health and social care that is rated amongst the best in the 
country for all its citizens in terms of quality, outcomes and local satisfaction 
with services.  

 
Over the next two years we will deliver this, through the delivery of our joint BCF plan 
and through joint commissioning arrangements with NHS England.  In order to 
deliver the ambitions of this plan, we will need to shift activity and resources into 
different parts of the system.  By 2018/19 our goal is to reduce the amount of time 
spent avoidably in hospital through the provision of better integrated care in the 
community, by approximately 31%3 and through increased investment in primary 
care. 
 
Taking into account the joint plans and strategies for Oxfordshire described above, 
we have set ourselves 3 critical success factors which we expect the BCF plan to 
achieve: 
 

• To reduce the proportion of people who are inappropriately admitted to 
hospital when other sources of care could have been available. 

• To reduce the proportion of people who spend longer in hospital than they 
need to. 

• To reduce the proportion of people admitted to residential care and nursing 
homes across Oxfordshire. 

 
What changes will be made? 
Our vision is to provide person-centred care, immediately available, at the point at 
                                            
3 National composite measure (EA4) of: unplanned hospitalisation for ACS 
conditions and u’19s with asthma, diabetes and epilepsy; emergency admissions for 
acute conditions not normally requiring admission and children with lower respiratory 
tract infections.   

Page 13



Page 8 of 78 
 

 

which an individual needs care.  This will mean all agencies and providers working 
collaboratively to deliver a new model pathway that transcends the traditional 
boundaries between primary, community, hospital and social care, working alongside 
voluntary and other independent sector agencies.   
 
Our plans for transformation are underpinned by 6 design principles which provide a 
framework for assessing the primary constraints in the system, and for structuring 
our emerging urgent and emergency care strategy including the Better Care Fund:  
  
1. Integration of services overcoming organisational and sector boundaries:   
This approach reflects our belief that the provision of health and social care services 
should be built around patient/service user needs thus reducing complexity, 
duplication and hand-offs between services.  Of paramount importance is the 
integration of primary care with community health and social care, and interface with 
acute emergency services. Integration of primary care with other services should be 
driven at a locality level, thus ensuring services are locally responsive and joined up.  
 
At the heart of this change will be integrated neighbourhood teams directing the suite 
of primary care, and community health and social care services wrapped around 
GPs and their patients to forge common goals for improving the health, well-being 
and experiences of local people and communities.   
 
We are currently engaging with the primary care community with a 'call for ideas' 
initiative to develop greater impetus around primary care as a solution to spiralling 
demand for acute services via non-elective admissions and delayed transfers of 
care.  Primary care federations are under development across Oxfordshire, and it is 
through these collaborative networks that we will develop our primary care 
improvement strategy and our bid in respect of the Prime Minister's Challenge Fund 
 
2. Enhancing self-care management: 
We are committed to enabling those with disabilities and long term conditions, with 
the education and support they need to be as independent as possible.  We believe 
that empowering people to have greater control of self-care management for 
conditions such as asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), heart 
failure and diabetes, reduces the likelihood of avoidable emergency admissions and 
premature dependency on long term care interventions.  Primary care investment 
lies at the heart of this initiative. 
 
In addition our BCF plan is already committed to investment in equipment and 
assistive technology which is crucial to supporting community resilience. 
 
3. Rapid access to community/primary care based urgent care 24/7:  
Improving the responsiveness and accessibility of community and primary care 
based urgent services are key to reducing avoidable demand for acute emergency 
care services.  This also includes focused attention on timely and integrated 
solutions to support frail, older people who are at high risk of emergency admission. 
We plan to improve the interface between GPs and specialist gerontology and 
medical services, thus increasing the proportion of individuals who can be assessed 
in their own homes or community facilities, such as Emergency Multi-disciplinary 
Units (EMUs) as a better value alternative to acute emergency care, which is often 

Page 14



Page 9 of 78 
 

 

inappropriate to meet their needs.  We also recognise the important role of primary 
care out of hours and during escalation, and believe that improvement in these areas 
has the potential to improve care quality and lead to a reduction in emergency care 
costs.  
 
7 day operations including out of hours and at weekends is an essential element of 
this design principle, to ensure that care pathways no longer default back to acute 
based emergency care, when this avoidable. 
 
4. Care closer to home: 
We believe that care closer to home starts with enabling those who are the most 
vulnerable and at risk of an inappropriate emergency admission, being cared for in 
their place of residence wherever and whenever possible. In addition preventing 
unnecessary acute episodes of care requires a range of community intermediate 
care services (community inpatient facilities; community day hospital; hospital at 
home and domiciliary care) that are equally responsive to the needs of individuals 
requiring either step-up or step-down facilities; are joined up; and actively manage 
transitions including timely and accurate information, good communication between 
hospital and primary physicians; and a single point of co-ordination. 
 
Our plans will ensure that people at the end of life have greater choice regarding 
where they will die, and we will support them to exercise this choice through wide 
implementation of advance care plans.  Linked to this we will invest in proactive 
medical support to residential care and nursing homes to ensure that the health and 
well-being of residents is well managed so that the signs of illness and deterioration 
are identified at the earliest opportunity. 
 
5. Ambulatory Emergency Care: 
We recognise that many acute and medical conditions that result in high numbers of 
patients being admitted to hospital, can be successfully managed in an ambulatory 
care setting.   Through clinical collaboration between GPs, emergency care medical 
consultants and the ambulance service, we are developing pathways for a range of 
ambulatory care sensitive conditions (ACSCs) that have the potential to improve 
patients reported outcomes for these conditions, and reduce avoidable demand for 
urgent and emergency care.  In particular we are prioritising the 5 long-term ACSCs 
and 7 acute ACSCs identified by NHS England4. 
 
6. Reducing delayed transfers of care: 
Delayed transfers of care (DToC) have been an enduring feature of the health and 
social care landscape in Oxfordshire since April 2011 when the Department of Health 
first started to publish the number of people delayed in inpatient care.  At 27.2 per 
100,000 population, Oxfordshire is almost 3 times the England average 9.7 per 
100,0005. Delayed transfers of care reduce the flow and smooth transition of patients 
between all health and social care services.  It leads to crowding in the emergency 
department, which in turn leads to delays in emergency medical assessment, which 

                                            
4 NHS England: Emergency Admissions for Ambulatory Care Sensitive 
Conditions – Characteristics and Trends at a National Level (March 2014). 
5 Department of Health: Delayed Transfers of Care population statistics 
average 2013/14. 

Page 15



Page 10 of 78 
 

 

in turn increases the likelihood of avoidable emergency care admissions.  All 
Oxfordshire partners have recently collaborated on the development of a whole-
system plan for tackling the issue, recognising that solving this problem will have a 
dramatic impact improving patient experience and on reducing the cost of 
emergency care. 
 
In addition two cross-cutting strategies that embrace the design principles above 
have been agreed: 
 
The Oxfordshire Joint Older People’s Strategy (Outcomes-based 
Commissioning) 2012-2016: 
This involves embedding an outcomes-based commissioning approach to older 
people’s care, currently the subject of a most capable provider assessment of an 
alliance between OHFT and OUH being conducted by OCCG.  The primary 
outcomes include defining and improving a care pathway for frail elderly people; 
expansion of EMU services in Oxford City and Banbury, and via ‘virtual’ means using 
telemedicine technology and hospital at home design principles to extend the reach 
of the current EMU service; and through improving the interface between 
reablement, supportive hospital discharge services (SHDS) and hospital at home 
services so that care for older people is responsive and delivered closer to home. 
 
Protecting Adult Social Care: 
Through the shift of resources brought about by the BCF plan, we intend to invest 
significantly (£9.35m) in adult social care services noting that higher rates of 
expenditure on social care is associated with lower levels of emergency admissions6 
which highlights the important relationship between local community needs for health 
and social care, and the role that social care can play in supporting people with 
complex health needs.  The primary areas for investment include improving access 
to social care assessments, increasing the provision of domiciliary care, and 
enhancing the social care contribution to reablement services. 
 
Based on our 6 design principles we have identified 11 schemes: 
1. Expanding emergency Multi-disciplinary units (EMUs). 
2. Enhancing reablement services. 
3. Reducing delayed transfers of care. 
4. Ambulatory emergency care pathways. 
5. Integrated neighbourhood teams. 
6. Care closer to home (advance care plans/End of Life Care and proactive 
medical support to care homes). 
7. Hospital at Home. 
8. Oxfordshire Care Summary: proactive care planning. 
9. Protecting Adult Social Care. 
10. Care Act Implementation. 
11. Carers Breaks. 
 
In addition we signal our intention to develop a range of ' primary care' schemes 
which are currently under development. 
 

                                            
6 NHS England Characteristics and Trends at a National Level (March 2014). 

Page 16



Page 11 of 78 
 

 

b) What difference will this make to patient and service user outcomes?  
 
We have aligned the things that patients’ have told us are important to them as set 
out in our Joint Older People’s Strategy, with our BCF schemes. 
 
I can take part in a range of activities and services that help me stay well 
and be part of a supportive community. 
 
 
Oxfordshire health and social care partners have successfully collaborated with 
the voluntary sector to provide preventive, 'well-being' initiatives.  Recent 
developments include a falls prevention scheme, and 'circles of support'- a 
scheme offering a social network and practical support to older people and their 
families, to signpost and help them navigate the plethora of statutory and voluntary 
help available.  In addition adult social care has invested in a Community 
Information Network to support this approach, and has made a significant 
investment in carers’ support and services. 
 
Furthermore it is proposed that the integrated neighbourhood teams will offer 'up-
stream' support to individuals, through the proactive management of those with 
long-term conditions ,and by implementing early intervention strategies with those 
most at risk of admission. Together these strategies offer preventive means of 
halting deterioration, and enabling individuals to remain healthier and independent 
for longer. 
 
I get the care and support I need in the most appropriate way 
and at the right time. 

 
All of the 11 Oxfordshire BCF schemes are designed to promote the deployment 
of the right level of care and support at the right time.  While neighbourhood teams 
will anticipate the care needs of individuals and act in a proactive way to prevent 
deterioration, the expansion of the EMUs will provide an appropriate response 
when older individuals become acutely unwell and/or require an urgent multi-
disciplinary assessment.  By building on the existing model already in operation, 
we will increase the numbers of individuals who can use the service as a more 
appropriate, alternative to the emergency department.  Furthermore, the 
development of ambulatory emergency care pathways, will increase the 
opportunities for individuals to receive treatment as a day case when they are 
acutely unwell, and to be transferred back home with support as necessary, thus 
negating the need for a non-elective admission. 

 
When I am in hospital or longer term care it is because I need to be there.  
While I am there, I receive high quality care and am discharged home when I 
am ready. 

 
Reducing delayed transfers of care is a paramount aim of the BCF 
plan.  By signing up to the plan, the whole-system in Oxfordshire has 
committed to: improving the efficiency of assessments for frail, older 

Page 17



Page 12 of 78 
 

 

people; the early engagement of patients and their families regarding 
ongoing care options; and improving the consistency and continuity 
of clinical assessment standards.  In addition collaborative working 
with the independent care and residential sector, should improve 
market management, and ensure that the Oxfordshire economy 
supports the sector to provide high quality, value for money care, 
that meets the changing needs of Oxfordshire's population.   
 
As a carer, I am supported in my caring role. 
 
Adult social care is preparing for the implementation of the Care Act 
2014, from 1st April 2015 which forms part of our BCF plans for 
protecting adult social care.  As a health/social care economy we will 
invest £1.35m, the greatest proportion of which will be directed 
towards paying for additional carers' assessments, as well as the 
delivery of new services to meet their needs.  In addition we have a 
specific scheme relating to carer’s breaks which adult social care is 
already committed to. 
 
If living with dementia, I and my carers receive good advice and support 
early on and I get the right help at the right time to live well. 
 
Oxfordshire has consistently demonstrated commitment to supporting people to 
have choice and control over the services/support they receive. For example, we 
have high numbers of older people who have a personal budget and high numbers 
of people who have decided to take their personal budget as direct payment.  
 
With higher than national average population growth in people over 75 years 
anticipated over the next 25 years, continuing to support individual choice and 
control over services for those with dementia, will become an increasing local need 
and challenge.  Through our plans for better managing the independent sector 
market, we will jointly commission a wide range of domiciliary and residential care 
facilities that will be directed towards meeting this need. 
   
I see health and social care services working well together. 
 
Health and social care services have an excellent track record of working in 
partnership. There are also well established pooled budget arrangements between 
the OCCG and the County Council across learning disabilities, physical disabilities, 
mental health and older people, which total £330m per year. The use of the pooled 
budgets is directly linked to the implementation of the joint commissioning strategies 
for the respective client groups, with strong governance arrangements that allow 
resources to be used flexibly to meet need and demand. 
 
We will build on this track record of partnership through our BCF plans, noting that 
all 11 of our schemes are based on an integrated approach, which requires 
partnership and mutual co-dependence for holding all parties to account for delivery. 
 
We will monitor improvement against these outcomes as part of our System 

Page 18



Page 13 of 78 
 

 

Resilience Group (SRG) dashboard. We recognise that our current suite of key 
performance indicators (KPIs) may not encompass all the challenges we 
currently face, and our intention is to add new KPIs to the dashboard as each 
new scheme goes live.  In addition all partners have signed up to the following  
ambitions: 

 
i More people will have the support they need to live their lives as healthily, 

successfully, independently and safely as possible, with good timely access to 
health and social care services 

ii Everyone will be given the opportunity to voice their opinions and experiences to 
ensure that services meet their individual needs 

iii The best possible services will be provided within the resources we have, giving 
excellent value for the public 

iv We will be delivering fully integrated care, close to home, for the frail elderly and 
people with complex multi-morbidities.  

v We will have a primary care service that is driving development and delivery of 
this integrated care, and is itself offering a broader range of services at a 
different scale. 

vi We will support choice and control in the belief that people themselves, 
regardless of age or ability, are best placed to determine what help they need. 

vii We will routinely enable people to live well at home and to avoid admission to 
hospital when this is in their best interests. 

viii We will continue to provide preventative care and to tackle health inequalities for 
patients and carers in both our urban and rural communities 

ix We will be providing health and social care that is rated amongst the best in the 
country for all its citizens in terms of quality, outcomes and local satisfaction with 
services. 

 
 
c) What changes will have been delivered in the pattern and configuration of 
services over the next five years, and how will BCF funded work contribute to 
this? 
 
The focus for the Oxfordshire whole-system is to enable people to live independently 
and well for as long as possible, using the widest range of mechanisms and support 
options available.  This means we need to have joined up care that provides better 
care at home and reduces unnecessary time spent in hospitals and care homes. In 
line with the principles of the BCF, we want to ensure that both hospital and 
residential care are seen as ‘admissions of last resort’, with accessible alternatives at 
earlier stages. The ‘golden thread’ of our BCF plan is an emphasis on ensuring the 
right care in the right place, first time, and establishing the vital links between primary 
and community care, and acute hospitals.   
 
Urgent care. 
Over the next 5 years our plans will reduce the need for care in acute settings.  A&E 
attendances and avoidable emergency admissions will reduce by 2% across our 2 

Page 19



Page 14 of 78 
 

 

main acute hospitals as community teams provide more targeted support to those at 
risk.  
 
In September 2014 our urgent care systems were reviewed by the NHS England 
Emergency Care Intensive Support Team (ECIST) and their recommendations to 
improve the internal transactional processes within OUH, and whole system on a 
transformational basis, have been weaved into our BCF plan.  In particular our plans 
for increasing EMU services and reablement will provide a responsive alternative to 
A&E, and increase short term interventions that rehabilitate people, restoring health 
and independence. 
 
Through the development of community services within our neighbourhood teams, 
when an individual does need acute care they will stay in hospital for shorter periods, 
returning home safely with the help of services such as ‘hospital at home’ and 
enhanced discharge support.  In addition our plans to expand the range of 
ambulatory care pathways will enable many patients requiring acute care to be seen, 
treated and discharged with 12 hours. 
 
Our plans to enhance out of hours services working collaboratively with primary care, 
will enable 7 day working across health and social care services.  Our population will 
no longer have to rely on A&E as their most reliable source of urgent response 24/7. 

 
Over the next 5 years we will have resolved our enduring challenge in respect of 
DToC.  We will have fully implemented all the current actions within our DToC plan, 
which we anticipate will reduce our average DToC from circa.151 to less than 100.  
We will continue to develop the plan recognizing that reducing DToC is at the heart 
of improving patient quality, and reducing the cost of care across the system. 
 
Enhanced domiciliary care, and care homes working in partnership with statutory 
agencies, will enable early (and/or weekend) hospital discharge. In particular we will 
have finessed our ‘Discharge to assess’ programme, thus ensuring that 
assessments upon discharge take place in the right environment, at the right rime 
and maximize the patient’s opportunities to be as independent as possible. 
 
Integrated Community Locality Teams. 
More care for older people and people with long term conditions will be delivered 
through locality-based multi-disciplinary neighbourhood teams, with a lead 
professional responsible for co-ordinating the care of individuals, ensuring an 
integrated and personalised approach to case management, by all services working 
with each person - GPs, Community Health, Social Care, Housing, Mental Health 
workers and hospital services. 
 
The emphasis will be keeping people well in their own homes, and maximizing 
independence by offering early intervention to prevent deterioration through 7 day 
services operating 24/7. Capital funding will be used by District Councils to support 
adaptations to property, to support people to stay at home (Disabled Facilities 
Grants), and additional capital funding will be used by adult social care to implement 
a new adult information system. 
 
 Initiatives to help people live safely at home, such as telecare and telemedicine, will 

Page 20



Page 15 of 78 
 

 

be deployed alongside more integrated and coherent approaches to preventative 
services, such as the voluntary sector initiative for overcoming social isolation. 
 
For those most at risk of an emergency admission in our community, our ‘closer to 
home’ scheme will target those who are frail including those with dementia, by 
putting place anticipatory care plans and care co-ordination.  This support will be 
enhanced for care homes, where investment in proactive medical support will 
improve medicines concordance, identify the early warning signs of health decline, 
and better support care home staff to deliver high quality end of life care.  The rolll-
out of the Oxfordshire Care Summary will improve shared professional access to 
care plans and essential patient information.  
 
The balance of social care will shift even further away from care homes towards 
support in people's own homes, and supported housing schemes.  Extra care 
housing is intended to provide an alternative to the use of care homes and enable 
older people to live independently with 24 hour on site care and support. It is forecast 
that 4,500 extra care housing flats will be needed by 2026 (OCC Market Position 
Statement). The staffing costs of these schemes are met from the home care 
budget. 
 
OCC has set aside a capital grant allocation of £10.5m to help stimulate the supply 
of extra care housing between 2010 and 2016. This includes a number of schemes 
that have already been developed / opened and are operating successfully, and 
several schemes in the pipeline. In total, 813 extra care housing units will have been 
delivered by April 2016. 
 
Home care services will be commissioned and resourced with a view to radically 
improving quality and outcomes, with home carers linked in with other health and 
care professionals, through the multi-disciplinary team approach.  There will be 
enhanced support for carers in line with our Carers Strategy, and the Care Act 

 
Federated Primary Care. 
The Oxfordshire health and social care system is committed to enhancing the 
important role of primary care and a range of schemes are in the process of being 
developed working in partnership with GPs through the Local Medical Committee 
(LMC) and Principal Medical Limited (PML).  We are currently developing plans to 
improve the primary care response to escalation, and in addition we are developing 
a bid for the Prime minister’s Challenge Fund.  At this stage our plans are in the 
early stages of development and are yet to be fully consulted on with our GP 
colleagues.  So far our Prime Ministers Challenge Fund bid includes: 
 
• Complex care teams – GP-led teams that will maintain personal care plans and 
support urgent assessments before 1pm when required. 
• Sub-locality hubs – Collaborative working between practices that will increase 
capacity for same day assessments and enable GPs to have more clinical facing 
time with those who have long-term conditions. 
• Improving health literacy – Ageneral practice interactive web-based health site 
providing specific condition guidance and sign-posting to other support.   
• Extended access hours i.e. linking out of hours to primary care escalation – 
Enabling GP services to be available across the county from 8am – 8pm. and use of 

Page 21



Page 16 of 78 
 

 

duty doctor at practices closest to A&Es to support A&E turnaround and offer 
patients alternative to A&E attendance. 
• Support of early discharge - By undertaking home visit on the same / next day 

of higher acuity patients released from bedded care 
 
Furthermore the adult social care plan, includes provision for each general practice 
to be assigned a named social and community healthcare link worker.  The 
Emergency Duty Team (out of hours OCC social work response), together with a 
review of control centres for safeguarding, EDT, crisis, telecare and equipment 
provision, will ensure a consistent social care response to primary care requests for 
out of hours social care support.  
 
3) Case for Change 
 
Please set out a clear, analytically driven understanding of how care can be 
improved by integration in your area, explaining the risk stratification exercises 
you have undertaken as part of this.  
 
The primary drivers behind our BCF plan are the failure of the system to consistently 
achieve the 95% A&E target, and our enduring challenge with unacceptable delays 
in transfers of care from acute bedded provision. 
 
In order to tackle these issues, our risk stratification exercises have identified the 
importance of: 

• Population growth in those aged 65 and over. 
• The top 2% of patients (9,700) identified as most at risk of emergency 

admission using the ACG risk stratification tool. 
• Disease prevalence across Oxfordshire against the 9 of the top 12 ACSCs 

which have been shown as having a significant impact on emergency 
admissions. 

• The role of integration across services: to improve locally provided responsive 
and preventive care; to build community resilience and self-care 
management; and to enable earlier discharge from acute care. 
 

Our 2% target to reduce non-elective admissions. 
Our work on locality planning has identified that the County of Oxfordshire has 
historically been one of the lowest nationally, in terms of the volume of non-elective 
admissions per 1000 population. 
 
The NHS England published 6% percentage reduction in non-elective admissions 
applied to OCCG for 2012/13 - 2013/14, does not accurately reflect the ‘real’ trend in 
activity.  If one takes account of the activity transfer for commissioning specialist 
services to NHS England, the ‘true’ trend was around 0.7% reduction. Our local data 
analysis suggests that non-elective activity has grown by 1% annually for the last 5 
years.  
 
Actual OCCG data for 2014/15 (extrapolated to month 7) shows a 4.5% increase in 
non-elective admissions to the comparable period above. To achieve a 2% reduction 
from this inflated baseline would therefore require a 6.5% reduction.  We believe that 
2% is both realistic and a stretch target. 

Page 22



Page 17 of 78 
 

 

Population Growth. 
Rates of A&E activity have continued to rise over the last 5 years (between 3 and 5% 
annually) and in 2014/15 are showing a significant increase on previous years (6% 
from 2012/13: table 1).  The primary driver is thought to be the significant increase in 
the over 65 population which is increasing at an average rate of 1% per annum.  
Further work is underway to assess the impact of 111 on A&E activity to see whether 
the service has had an adverse or positive impact on reducing attendances. 
Table 1 

  
Clearly Oxfordshire, like many other areas in England, will see the impact of an 
ageing population on health care consumption and a risk of significant growth in the 
volume of non-elective admissions. This has been modelled in table 2 below. 
Table 2 

 

Page 23



Page 18 of 78 
 

 

Consequently, the proportion of healthcare expenditure on the over-65 population is 
set to increase as shown in Table 3. 
 
Table 3 

 
 
Disease Prevalence across Oxfordshire 
OCCG has made a critical review of the local and national experience in improving 
the management of emergency care. The lessons are common between the King’s 
Fund Review on ‘Avoiding Hospital Admissions’ (December 2010) and the Keogh 
Urgent & Emergency Care Review, three years later - that an integrated approach 
between health and social care (and between professionals in different disciplines) is 
essential if seamless care is to be provided before a crisis develops, at the time of 
crisis, and following emergency intervention (most frequently, a hospital admission). 
 
OCCG has commenced with a review of its 6 localities, led by locality commissioning 
directors as local GPs, and informed by the JSNA and working experience of recent 
operational resilience capacity planning (ORCP) programmes. This has identified 
target populations within key wards, for whom crisis intervention would be 
particularly appropriate, and is in line with the Kings Fund recommendation to focus 
on patients within the lower socio-economic groups. 
 
A national initiative to identify the top 2% of patients at risk of hospital admission, has 
enabled OCCG to address the next key recommendation - “in primary care, higher 
continuity of care with a GP is associated with lower risk of admission” – since the 
majority of care-plans completed have identified the GP as the key care co-ordinator. 
This has been carried out by all practices across Oxfordshire using the ACG Risk 
Stratification Tool to identify: 
 

(a) patients at high risk of deterioration and subsequent escalation in the 

Page 24



Page 19 of 78 
 

 

community;  
(b) patients who are frequent attenders in acute services, either via attendances 

or emergency admissions. 
 

In addition differences in disease prevalence between the top 5% highest risk and 
the rest of the population have also been analysed, comparing the prevalence of the 
12 ACSCs (5 long-term conditions ACSCs and 7 acute ACSCs).  It has proved 
possible to derive the equivalent of 9 of these, and subsequently we are aiming to 
support an ‘at-risk’ target population in the region of 9,700 patients with anticipatory 
care plans as part of our ‘closer to home’ scheme.  In addition the 12 ACSCs are the 
subject of improvement within our ambulatory emergency care scheme. 
 
Integrated Care. 
The King’s Fund Review has informed local inter-agency analysis of integration 
models, comprising models of ‘vertical integration’ (between community and 
hospital), and ‘locality integration’ (between primary and social care).   
 
The King’s Fund Review demonstrates that both of these models are necessary 
measures in tackling emergency admissions, with implications for managing frequent 
attenders, through a personalised health care programme, and for ensuring that 
discharge-planning is structured, with sufficient risk-assessment of the client to 
prevent early re-admission. This evidence underpins our principle assumptions 
regarding the important role of integration, and as a consequence our plans to 
introduce integrated neighbourhood teams to Oxfordshire. 
 
A key conclusion of the case for change work is that the current system is unlikely to 
address performance short-comings regarding the 95% A&E target and DToC 
without transformative change.  The increasing proportion of older people is already 
having an impact on demand, and taken with the financial challenges facing the 
system, new ways of operating across the system will be crucial to ensuring that 
health and social care services are fit for purpose in the future. The evidence shows 
that integration can help bridge that gap by shifting the balance of care towards more 
preventative community based care, and in so doing improve outcomes. All partners 
agree that there is scope to improve services and reduce costs by better integrating 
services. Our risk stratification and population segmentation approach has led to an 
initial focus on older people and long term conditions, and this has informed the 
focus of the BCF.  
 
The BCF is one part of the integrated response to making the required changes to 
achieve sustainability and improve outcomes. 

 
4) Plan of Action 
• Please map out the key milestones associated with the delivery of the 

Better Care Fund plan and any key interdependencies 
 

This section sets out our change management plan to bring about transformation 
across the system.  We will approach the implementation of the plan as a whole-
system, monitoring progress and mitigating risks through the SRG.  The 
development and delivery of the schemes highlighted in this plan, reflect the 
collective efforts of all partners and are evident in the individual strategies and plans 

Page 25



Page 20 of 78 
 

 

of all constituent parties.  Every scheme has been assigned a project lead and is 
subject to the discipline of project management, through the programme 
management office in the OCCG. 
 
All partners acknowledge their collective responsibility for improving DToC and 
achieving the 95% A&E target, and as a result all schemes represent 
interdependencies between two partner agencies or more for successful execution. 
 
Reducing the proportion of patients who are inappropriately admitted to hospital 
requires the mobilisation of rapid assessment schemes, the earliest impact of which 
will come from the care closer to home initiatives (proactive medical support to care 
homes/anticipatory care plans) and ambulatory emergency care pathways.  Plans to 
introduce integrated neighourhood teams will commence a phased introduction from 
June 2015, the full impact of which is unlikely until early 2016.  Plans to increase 
EMU provision will commence towards the end of 2015/16. The significant 
interdependency for reducing inappropriate hospital admission lies with primary care 
and OUH.  Ensuring that communication between GPs and medical consultants is 
timely and responsive is pre-requisite to this set of plans and will be monitored 
through SRG. 
 
Reducing the proportion of people who spend longer in hospital than they need to is 
dependent upon the delivery of our DToC plan. This is truly a whole-system plan 
where interdependencies exist between OUH and all health and social care 
providers of ongoing care.  Early implementation of DToC ‘quick wins’ relate to 
transactional improvements internal to OUH including implementation of the joint 
Choice Policy, improvement of the assessment process including earlier involvement 
of social care, continuing healthcare, medication to take home, and booking patient 
transport. With regard to ongoing care all providers have signed up to the concept of 
facilitating 69 discharges every day, broken down by service.  Expansion of 
reablement services and protection of social care with an emphasis on doubling 
available domiciliary care over the 12 months, are critical factors where the acute 
sector is highly dependent on the OHFT and OCC mobilisation of their schemes. 
 
Reducing the proportion of people admitted to residential and care homes across 
Oxfordshire, is dependent on improving support to people in their own homes.  Our 
plans for introducing neighbourhood teams is an essential component as is 
protecting adult social care.  The interdependencies for the delivery of these 
initiatives are primarily with OHFT, primary care and OCC. 
 
Milestone Date Comments 
Finalisation of the BCF plan and paper to Health and 
Well-being Board. 

29.12.14  

Sign off by Health and Wellbeing Board  08.01.15  
Submission of the BCF plan 09.01.15  
BCF plan endorsed by SRG 15.01.15  
ECIST action plan progress update to SRG. 15.01.15  
OCCG letter to all practices recommending the co-
commissioning of primary care services.  

January 
2015. 
 

In response to 
NHS England’s 
invitation for 
expressions of 

Page 26



Page 21 of 78 
 

 

interest in 
different 
models of co-
commissioning. 

Oxfordshire whole-system Urgent and Emergency 
Care Strategy 2015 – 2020 to SRG for approval. 

12.02.15  

Single assessment process and supportive 
documentation capable of following the patient 
through their journey. 

February 
2015 

Transactional 
improvements 
to the inpatient 
assessment 
process – 
including 
continuing care 
assessments. 

Proactive Medical Support to Care Homes – 
investment for approval at CCG Clinical Executive 

January 
2015 

Services 
commences 
February 2015 

Prime Ministers Challenge Fund Submission 16.01.15  
DToC plan first quarterly performance update report 
to SRG. 

March 
2015 

 

Ambulatory Emergency Care pathways for 5 long-
term condition and 7 acute pathways. 

April 
2015 

Sign-off at 
Clinical 
Reference 
Group. 

Comprehensive review and plan to take forward 
‘Discharge to Assess’ to SRG for approval. 

April 
2015 

 

The establishment of an Oxfordshire Commissioning 
Board  

April 
2015 

This will bring 
together 
OCCG, OCC 
and NHSE to 
ensure we join 
up the 
commissioning 
of all health 
and social care 
services for our 
residents. 

First neighbourhood team up and running June 
2015 

 

All neighbourhood teams in place Sept 
2015 

Location TBD 

Reablement Plan to increase service by 50%, submit 
to SRG. 

October 
2015 

 

Streamlining reablement, supportive hospital 
discharge service (SHDS) and hospital@home. 

October 
2015 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 27



Page 22 of 78 
 

 

• Please articulate the overarching governance arrangements for integrated 
care locally 
 

The BCF plan is a whole-system joint plan which brings together all partners with joint 
aims and objectives to transform the system. 
 

 
 
The Council and OCCG have agreed strong governance arrangements comprising the 
Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) and joint management groups (JMG) which oversee 
the current arrangements for the pooled budget, currently £330m across older people, 
physical disability, learning disability, and mental health services. The JMGs involve 
commissioners, GPs, clinicians, NHS providers and service users/carers in decision 
making regarding use of the budget. In addition to accountability for the pooled budget, 
the HWB has overarching responsibility for signing off the BCF plan and will receive 
progress updates on a quarterly basis.  
 
In addition the Chief Executives of the major Oxfordshire organisations (Oxfordshire 
Clinical Commissioning Group, Oxfordshire County Council, Oxford University Hospital 
Trust, Oxford Health Foundation Trust and Principal Medical Limited) have agreed a set 
of proposals for collective leadership of the health and social care system in Oxfordshire.  
 
In governance terms the System Leadership Group sits alongside the HWB, and will 
provide whole system leadership and oversight for all joint plans and strategies including 
BCF and its links to operational resilience plans and QIPP.  The 6 criteria that under pin 
our system leadership are as follows:- 

• Establishment of core shared purpose, 
• Shared understanding of when and for what services the system is operating in 

joint planning mode and where it is competing, 
• Shared mechanisms for managing financial risk and benefit, 

Page 28



Page 23 of 78 
 

 

System 
Leadersh
ip 
Group 

• Shared agreement upfront on the route for ultimate arbitration, 
• A shared agreement on an underpinning clinical basis for any transformation 
• Establishment of strong interpersonal relationships. 

Our Systems Resilience Group (SRG) and whole system Transformation Board will be 
accountable to the System Leadership Group. 

 
 
 
 
 
       
 
 
 
 
  
 

          Membe 
    

 
       

 
 

 
The System Leadership Group (SLG) will drive forward the transformation of the care 
system in Oxfordshire; managing crisis will that impact on the whole system; considering 
wider issues affecting the system as a whole (e.g. transport, economic development); 
maintaining an overview of the financial position of the system; and forward planning and 
managing the interface with governing bodies, the County Council and the HWB. 
 
The Transformation Board comprising CEOs and direct reports (Chief Operating Officers, 
Director of Strategy, Director for Delivery) will bring together in one place all projects 
which will deliver significant change to the system.  It will become the forum where new 
models of payment in the NHS, new models of provision (as detailed in the 5 year 
forward plan) and system enablers (E.G. workforce, IT and assets) can be discussed at 
length.  
 
The System Resilience Group (SRG) compromising a similar membership as above, will 
provide operational and ongoing oversight of the BCF plans, ensuring that actions are 
implemented, with the capacity in place to do this effectively.  The Transformation Board 
will ensure that our BCF plan is refreshed by future new innovations as they arise. 
 
 
c) Please provide details of the management and oversight of the delivery of 
the Better Care Fund plan, including management of any remedial actions 
should plans go off track 
 
The BCF plan will be managed through the SRG and associated delivery group 

System Leadership 
Group 

Focus: whole system 
leadership and oversight 

System Resilience 
Group 

Focus: in year delivery 

Transformation Board 
Focus: Transformation 
of the health and care 

system 

Page 29



Page 24 of 78 
 

 

structures, with ultimate accountability to the HWB. Each BCF scheme has a clear plan 
setting out the service details, key deliverables in terms of activity and outcomes, named 
lead organisations and managers, risks, dependencies, milestones and reporting 
arrangements. These requirements will be reflected in the Section 75 agreement 
underpinning the governance of the pooled budget.  
  
Quarterly exception reporting on all schemes will be required, although care will be taken 
not to add unnecessary or duplicated reporting burdens. This will feed into a quarterly 
report for the HWB to assess progress and discuss any areas that need unblocking.   
 
For any scheme element that is not on track, a recovery plan will be provided. Particular 
focus will be given to spending and any variance on plans will be addressed, including 
consideration of the reinvestment of any slippage.  
 
Outcomes will be managed at scheme level and whole-system level, with close 
performance management of key measures undertaken on a monthly basis, including 
analysis of avoidable admissions, care home placements and delayed transfers of care.  
 
 
d) List of planned BCF schemes   
Please list below the individual projects or changes which you are planning as part of 
the Better Care Fund. Please complete the Detailed Scheme Description template 
(Annex 1) for each of these schemes.  
 

Ref 
no. 

Scheme 

1 Emergency Multi-disciplinary Units (Expansion of an existing scheme): 
The proposal is to expand the existing EMU services in Abingdon and Witney, 
to two more sites in Banbury (Horton Hospital) and Oxford City (The John 
Radcliffe Hospital). In addition system partners are designing a 'virtual' EMU 
which will provide county-wide coverage, and rely on technological solutions, 
such as point of care testing, telemedicine and remote working technology, to 
enable frontline community healthcare professionals to access specialist 
medical and geronotogy diagnostics and advice, so that people can be cared for 
in their own homes. 

2 Reablement Services (Expansion of an existing scheme): This is focused on 
increasing the number of people who could recieve reablement in the 
community. The system outcome is to reduce the long-term care needs of 
individuals. The focus of this scheme is to reappraise the multiple reablement 
services and existing pathways and seek to have one consistent pathway, 
assessment and process established. 

3 Reducing delayed transfers of care (New scheme): The Oxfordshire Delayed 
Transfers of Care (DToC) Plan sets out the priority goals, objectives and actions 
that will be enacted in 2015/16 and beyond to improve performance against 
DToC key performance indicators.  In essence the whole-system in Oxfordshire 
is working in partnership to reduce the proportion of individuals delayed 
unnecessarily in an acute environment. 

Page 30



Page 25 of 78 
 

 

Ref 
no. 

Scheme 

4 Ambulatory emergency care (New scheme): AEC Pathways are intended to 
manage patients presenting at an acute setting who require treatment, without 
requiring admission.  Patients are managed in a specific area with full access to 
diagnostics, medical advice and care with the intention that they will be 
appropriately discharged into the community as soon as possible. 

5 Integrated neighbourhood teams (New scheme): This scheme focuses on 
bringing professionals together to deliver joined up personalised integrated care 
to patients in the community. The system outcomes are improved population 
health, efficiency and effectiveness gains, and reduced service use through 
improved health and social capacity.  

6 Care closer to home (New scheme): This scheme is about ensuring that our 
most frail citizens have access to appropriate care closer to home, in way that 
prevents unnecessary admission and improves the quality of End of Life Care.  
The scheme pulls together a focus on our top 2% most at risk of a non-elective 
admission.  This scheme is not just patients in care homes, although a 
significant proportion of frail, elderly citizens are resident in care and nursing 
homes.  

7 Hospital at home (Expansion of an existing scheme): This scheme is about 
expanding the provision of Hospital@Home, essentially delivering across the 
whole county 24/7, to maintain peoples care within their own home, through a 
sub-acute episode of need, for up to 14 days, including: 
• rapid community assessment and intervention to avoid acute admission, 
• nursing intervention to facilitate and enable timely discharge from acute 

admission, 
• holistic care that promotes and supports individuals in maintaining their 

independence. 
 

8 Oxfordshire Care Summary - proactive care planning (Existing scheme): 
The proactive care planning scheme will: 

• Enable the capturing of the care planning data set in GP systems by 
means of a clinical template. 

• Enable the sharing of the care planning data set to the Oxfordshire Care 
Summary by means of requesting the approved Read codes from the 
data supplier. 

• Enable the most effective presentation of the care planning data set by 
means of liaising with urgent care clinicians to develop the display within 
the Oxfordshire Care Summary 

• Promote the posting of care documents such as DNACPR forms for 
sharing via the OCS. 

• Promote the use of the Oxfordshire Care Summary across health and 
social care providers in Oxfordshire. 

• Seek clinical data from other providers as soon as it is available in order 
to increase the breadth and depth of the data set and to reduce the risk 

Page 31



Page 26 of 78 
 

 

Ref 
no. 

Scheme 

of processing errors in the information chain. 

9 Protecting adult social care (Existing scheme): The focus of this scheme will 
reducing demand for health and social care services by ensuring high quality, 
joined up services that support people to live independent and successful lives 
for as long as possible. The focus in particular will be on frail older people with 
investment focused on: 

• Long term care packages,  
• Equipment,  
• Intermediate care including reablement, and 
• Services to support discharge. 

10 Care Act Implementation (Existing scheme): The Adult Services 
Improvement Programme is responsible for the implementation of reforms 
resulting from the Care Act. The programme includes a range of projects and 
developments specifically targeted at meeting the demands of the reforms, 
including: 
• improving provision of online, telephone and face to face information and 

advice, including for self-funders, 
• developing a model of self-assessments, and development of an e-

marketplace to drive choice and control for individuals,  
• further support for carers in line with their right to access services, and 

meeting the anticipated increase in demand for assessments, building on 
existing services including carers breaks, 

• improving existing processes and systems to avoid duplication and make 
them as effective as possible, including a new IT system for Adult Social 
Care,  

• developing new ways of working that support integration, including devolving 
responsibility to locality teams,  

• developing the local market to better meet the needs of individuals, 
• ensuring the social care workforce is suitably trained, skilled and rewarded. 

11 Carers Breaks (Existing scheme): This scheme encompasses a range of 
initiatives designed to support carers to continue to play an essential role in the 
development of health and social care services in Oxfordshire.  

 
In addition to the 11 schemes detailed above, OCCG has signalled commitment to 
supporting a range of GP-led initiatives designed to extend GP services and improve the 
patient's experience of primary care.  Collectively the initiatives will: 

• improve education and support to people with long-term conditions to promote 
self-care management;  

• respond urgently to prevent deterioration in those with a known long-term 
condition; increase primary care provision during periods when the health and 
social care system is experiencing significantly increased pressure according to 
the Oxfordshire Escalation Framework; and  

Page 32



Page 27 of 78 
 

 

• support improved flow through bedded care and offer alternatives to ED 
attendance and admission. 

 
5) Risks and Contingency 
 
a) Risk log  
Please provide details of the most important risks and your plans to mitigate them. 
This should include risks associated with the impact on NHS service providers and 
any financial risks for both the NHS and local government. 
 
The risk assessment below was conducted by the SRG in December 2014.  It 
highlights what all partners believe is a realistic assessment of extent of the 
challenge to transform the system, across Oxfordshire. 
 
 

There is a risk that: How likely 
is the risk 
to 
materialise? 
(1 low-5 high)  

Potential 
impact  
(1 low-5high) 

Overall 
risk 
factor 
(likelihood 
*potential 
impact) 

Mitigating Actions 

Lack of consensus on the key 
constraints facing the system 
and the solutions to address 
them could be caused by lack 
of system leadership. 

3 4 12 The convening of the System 
Leadership Group (SLG), with the SRG 
and the Transformation board at a sub 
level (December 2014). 
 
Attendance will be recorded and 
reviewed by the SLG on a quarterly 
basis. 

Non-delivery of acute 
emergency demand reductions 
results in OCCG deficit,  non-
delivery of community 
investment  and capacity 
problems in the acute sector 

4 3 12 Progress on impact on acute demand 
reductions will be monitored closely as 
part of the BCF governance 
arrangements through the SRG and 
recovery plans put in place promptly 
where necessary.  
 
If targets not met, contingency plans to 
set out how any excess acute demand 
will be funded whilst protecting the 
development of community based 
services. 
 

Failure to address current 
system failings such as 
delayed transfers of care and 
crowding in the emergency 
department through lack of 
whole-system collaboration on 
a joint vision and strategy for 
urgent and emergency care. 

3 5 15 The development of a whole-system 
strategy for urgent and emergency care 
to be approved at the SRG (February 
2015). 
 
 A strategy for delayed transfers of care 
was approved at SRG (December 
2014). 
 
 A Joint Escalation Policy has been cited 
at the December SRG and will be 
formally approved  at the SRG (January 
2015). 

Patients are at risk of harm 3 5 15 Full implementation of the joint Choice 

Page 33



Page 28 of 78 
 

 

There is a risk that: How likely 
is the risk 
to 
materialise? 
(1 low-5 high)  

Potential 
impact  
(1 low-5high) 

Overall 
risk 
factor 
(likelihood 
*potential 
impact) 

Mitigating Actions 

through infection and other 
complications, and 
deterioration in their activities 
of daily living brought about by 
delayed stays in inpatient care 
(predominantly acute inpatient 
stay).  

Policy (January 2014). 
 
The development of DToC and 
associated KPIs (January 2015).   
 
The development of an acute/community 
single assessment process for frail older 
people, with single documentation and 
consistent clinical assessment standards 
(February 2015).   
 
The development of a homeless 
discharge pathway working with key 
homeless charities in Oxfordshire (May 
2015).   
 
The development of a housing 
assessment pathway to ensure that an 
individual’s  housing needs are 
considered as early as possible, 
preferable before deterioration and an 
emergency admission are inevitable 
(January 2015).   
 
Taking steps to improve market 
management of independent care and 
residential agencies, and ensuring the 
risks and pressures that face this 
industry are understood as part of the 
whole system in Oxfordshire (January – 
October 2015).  
 
 A review of reablement services to 
increase the proportion of people who 
access reablement including 
streamlining of current rehabilitative, 
closer-to-home services (April 2015). 

Avoidable non-elective 
admissions continue to 
increase in the absence of 
whole-system formalized care 
pathways focused on 
Ambulatory Emergency Care 
pathways 
- 
 

4 4 16 Refinement of ambulatory care KPIs for 
SRG dashboard (January 2015). 
 
Long-term ambulatory care sensitive 
conditions (ACSCs: COPD; Atrial 
fibrillation and flutter; Asthma; Heart 
failure; and Angina pectoris developed 
and agreed (April 2015).   
 
Acute ACSCs to be developed and 
agreed: UTI; Lobar pneumonia 
(unspecified);Diarrhoea and 
gastroenteritis of presumed infectious 
origin; Upper respiratory infections 
(multiple and unspecified sites); 
Convulsions (not elsewhere classified); 
and Viral and other unspecified intestinal 

Page 34



Page 29 of 78 
 

 

There is a risk that: How likely 
is the risk 
to 
materialise? 
(1 low-5 high)  

Potential 
impact  
(1 low-5high) 

Overall 
risk 
factor 
(likelihood 
*potential 
impact) 

Mitigating Actions 

infections (April 2015). 

Failure to safeguard patient 
safety, maintain effective 
patient-flow and meet statutory 
urgent care targets, due to 
ineffective response across 
health and social care 
organisations to increased 
volume of demand or reduced 
capacity for urgent care. 

4 5 20 Implementation of the Escalation Policy 
(January 2015).   

Market capacity may not 
increase in line with demand 
and appropriate levels of care 
are not forthcoming in the right 
place, at the right price and of 
the right quality 

3 5 15 (January – March 2015) 
The care and residential sector to be 
seen as an integral and equal whole 
system partner alongside statutory 
agencies. 
 
Equal understanding of costs and 
pressures alongside statutory agencies. 
 
Analyse data by parent company to 
understand volume and costs of 
placements. 
 
Carry out Kraljick analysis to understand 
the suppliers with which we can develop 
a strategic partnership. 
 
(April – July 2015) 
Improvement of rates through 
commercial negotiations as well as to 
ensure timely assessments, transfer and 
interface with health care. 
 
Agree SLA to complete assessments in 
a timely manner with strategic partners. 
 
Review level of care provided under 
domiciliary care block contracts. 

Insufficient people will be 
willing to work in the health and 
social care sector at a time of 
increasing financial pressure 
for the sector, and in an area of 
high employment 

3 5 15 Workforce plan in place to addresses 
issues of low pay and access to 
adequate training and clinical 
supervision (March 2015). 
 
Mandatory requirement that all staff  
have safeguarding training (March 
2015). 
 

Page 35



Page 30 of 78 
 

 

There is a risk that: How likely 
is the risk 
to 
materialise? 
(1 low-5 high)  

Potential 
impact  
(1 low-5high) 

Overall 
risk 
factor 
(likelihood 
*potential 
impact) 

Mitigating Actions 

Support care/nursing home sector to 
introduce value- based recruitment 
(March 2015). 
 
 

 

 
b) Contingency plan and risk sharing  
Please outline the locally agreed plans in the event that the target for reduction in 
emergency admissions is not met, including what risk sharing arrangements are in 
place i) between commissioners across health and social care and ii) between 
providers and commissioners  
 
Our BCF plan identifies that transformational approaches will drive how the system 
manages care demand across health and social care services over the next 5 years and 
beyond.  All partners recognize that success in facing up to the Oxfordshire challenges, 
will only be achieved by operating at a whole-system level, working collaboratively, 
supporting co-dependencies and managing risks across organizational boundaries.    
 
This is an ambitious target given the historic annual growth in A&E and non-elective 
activity.  We anticipate that the impact of some of our schemes will manifest early in 2015 
(e.g. the DToC plan).  However the impact of some of our more transformational 
approaches (e.g. neighbourhood teams) may not be material until well into 2016. Delays 
in the delivery of plans that are expected to materially deliver the 2% reduction in non-
elective admissions, is a risk that the system acknowledges. 
Management of risk, at both a clinical (patient) level and systemic (organisational) level, 
has been a key focus for OCCG and our partners. Development of the BCF plan has 
enabled us to test a dynamic model of financial investment in specific care-models, 
correlated to the acceptance of risk by providers if the proposed changes fail to deliver 
the anticipated benefits for reducing non-elective admissions, reducing DToC and 
enabling the system to achieve the 95% A&E target.  
 
This is being developed further through the outcomes-based contract for older people 
(and for adult mental health services), focused on integration across the patient pathway 
to improve patient care and outcomes, with delivery of improved performance, directly 
related to contract incentives, using patient acuity measures such as the Hurst tool, 
alongside activity markers. Hence the system will gain a greater understanding of the 
level of patient dependency/acuity alongside anticipated reduction in activity. 
 
The system plans to share the financial risks by incorporating the BCF into existing 
pooled budget arrangements. This is a well-established mechanism in Oxfordshire, 
through which the shared risk is proportional to the input from OCCG and the Council.  
The risk share within the s75 NHS Act pooled budget arrangement is set out in the main 
agreement and in the Schedule 1 thereto. Together the Council and OCCG have mature 
risk sharing arrangements which are used to protect adult social care.  Currently the pool 

Page 36



Page 31 of 78 
 

 

represents one quarter of the OCCG budget and 99% of adult social care budget. 
 
All health and social care organisations have committed to the development of joint QIPP 
plans via the Transformation Board. Initial discussions have been held across the health 
and social care economy regarding a feasible and equitable approach to risk-sharing. 
These will continue. 
 
The system resilience initiatives are closely aligned to the BCF approach and it is at SRG 
that the performance of the BCF plan will be robustly monitored.  The SRG dashboard 
and risk register are the central mechanisms for reporting performance against KPIs and 
managing the risks of non-delivery.  It is from here that the system will become alerted to 
the earliest signs of targets not being met, so that recovery plans can be put in place.  
 
 
6) Alignment 
 
a) Please describe how these plans align with other initiatives related to care 
and support underway in your area 
 
The current vision for Oxfordshire through to 2019/20 is that articulated through the 
Oxfordshire’s Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2012-2016, Adult Social Care 
Business Strategy 2014/15-2017/18 and the Clinical Commissioning Group’s five-
year strategic plan for 2014/15-2018/19. This strong alignment between existing 
strategies and plans will be further enhanced by the agreement of a single strategy 
for the health and social care system in Oxfordshire by March 2015. 

Plans relating to BCF have been developed as the result of the whole system facing 
up to disappointing performance across the 95% A&E target and DToC.  This has 
brought together collective plans for improvement including: 

• QIPP proposals across the whole system for delivery in 2015/16 linked to the 
BCF plan. Specific areas include the ambulatory care pathways and ‘care closer 
to home’ initiatives in support of our most frail residents and end of life care. 

• a joint submission under the ‘most capable provider’ guidance for older people’s 
services from OUH and OHFT (under OCCG consideration), 

• a joint plan to reduce DToC developed by all health/social economy parties 
including representation from the independent care sector, 

• joint policies for improving the system such as the joint ‘patient choice’ policy and 
‘escalation’ policy. 

• Collaborative working to develop an action plan in response to ECIST 
recommendations, involving all providers and commissioners across health and 
social care, and 

• Our joint operational resilience capacity plan (ORCP) which monitored via the 
SRG. 

 

Page 37



Page 32 of 78 
 

 

b) Please describe how your BCF plan of action aligns with existing 2 year 
operating and 5 year strategic plans, as well as local government planning 
documents  
 
The CCG’s Operating and Strategic Plans have indicated our commitment to the key 
objectives stated in Section 2(c) (Vision for Services), namely: 
 
• Locality Integration across Oxfordshire – for primary, community and social care 
• Vertical Integration – for secondary and community, and including an extension of 

re-ablement programmes, reductions in admission to acute, community and 
intermediate care, and reductions in length of stay 

• Outcomes-based contracting for older people (and for adult mental health 
services) 

 
These intentions are also echoed in Oxfordshire County Council’s Adult Social Care 
Business Strategy for 2014/15 and beyond, and restated in the Oxfordshire Health & 
Wellbeing Strategy.  
 
The BCF plan brings the aspirations contained within the 5 year strategic plan, into 
tangible, realistic and deliverable objectives which will be incorporated into a 
refreshed 2 year plan (annual operating plan 2015/16), and subsequently be revised 
in the context of each subsequent year of delivery over the next 5 years, as part of 
the OCCG annual planning cycle.  
 
An example of alignment between the BCF, the adult social care plan and the health 
and wellbeing strategy (HWBS) can be seen in the development of integrated 
neighbourhood teams - a new scheme in the BCF.  The HWBS is explicit about 
improving support for adults with long term conditions. In part this will be enacted via 
improving social care support, particularly in meeting the needs of carers, and via 
improving the primary care response to managing long-term conditions in the 
community.  The HWBS also prioritises the needs of older people to live 
independently whilst reducing the need for care and support.  Again our plans to 
introduce integrated neigbourhood teams supports this priority, as does adult social 
care plans to increase reablement provision and domiciliary care. 
 
We expect our BCF plan to reviewed each year by all system partners, so that our 
collective annual plans are informed by up to date performance against our BCF 
targets, and stretched by our ambitious future plans for transformation. 
 
c) Please describe how your BCF plans align with your plans for primary co-
commissioning 

• For those areas which have not applied for primary co-commissioning 
status, please confirm that you have discussed the plan with primary 
care leads.  
 

By April 2015 we will be establishing an Oxfordshire Commissioning Board which will 
bring together OCCG, OCC and NHS England to ensure we join up the commissioning of 
all health and social care services for our residents. 
 
In preparation for this and throughout 2014/15, OCCG has undertaken a number of 

Page 38



Page 33 of 78 
 

 

functions jointly with NHS England in shadow form.  These functions include:  
• establishment of a development board with representation from NHS England, 

OCCG, Healthwatch Oxfordshire and LMC to lead the strategic development of 
primary care 

• development of a joint local improvement scheme for general practice linked to the 
Proactive Care DES, with joint monitoring processes established with Thames 
Valley Area Team 

• liaison with practices whose income have been significantly reduced either as a 
result of loss of MPIG or PMS premiums to assess the impact on the wider health 
system  

• monitoring the quality of general practice services through the national GP survey, 
CQC inspection reports, achievement of prescribing targets etc., and using peer 
review and support in locality meetings to share good practice and reduce 
unwarranted variation 

• supporting collaboration between practices, resulting in the formation of seven 
primary care federations which together represent 74 out of 82 practices across 
Oxfordshire 

• development of an integrated model of diabetes care which will increase 
management of people with unstable diabetes in locality hubs with care provided 
by multi-speciality teams including consultant advice, diabetes community nursing, 
prescribing and GP expertise.   This is expected to impact on numbers of 
emergency admissions for patients with severe diabetic complications (e.g, 
neuropathy, podiatry and ophthalmology).  Although these numbers will be small, 
and not directly within the remit of the BCF, the development of such tier 2 
services with care provided by primary care in partnership with community and 
acute providers offers a model for more proactive, community based management 
of people with long term conditions.   

 
Initial discussions with OCCG Locality Clinical Directors indicate that the OCCG will wish 
to formalise this joint commissioning approach in its response to NHS England’s invitation 
for expressions of interest in different models of co-commissioning.  Going forward we 
will be recommending to practices that OCCG go for the co-commissioning of primary 
care services and letter detailing this will be sent to all practices in January 2015. 
 

 
 

7) National Conditions 
 
Please give a brief description of how the plan meets each of the national conditions 
for the BCF, noting that risk-sharing and provider impact will be covered in the 
following sections. 
 
 
a) Protecting Social Care Services 

i) Please outline your agreed local definition of protecting adult social care 
services (not spending)  

 
We define protecting adult social care as prioritising the services that have the 
biggest impact on meeting the shared need to reduce demand for health and social 

Page 39



Page 34 of 78 
 

 

care services by ensuring high quality, joined up services that support people to live 
independent and successful lives for as long as possible.  
 
Local Authorities have a statutory duty to meet the needs of older, disabled and 
vulnerable people and their carers - this includes older people, adults with learning 
disabilities, adults with mental health problems and those with physical and sensory 
impairments. Social care needs are, in summary, activities of daily living, personal 
care such as going to the toilet, help with bathing and eating and in some 
circumstances help with occupation and activities during the day (for example for 
younger adults who may require access to training and employment). Access to 
support is normally through a professional assessment of need, guided by nationally 
set eligibility criteria. Local authorities can take resources into account when 
determining how those assessed needs should be met but we cannot refuse to meet 
people’s eligible care needs. 
 
ii) Please explain how local schemes and spending plans will support the 
commitment to protect social care   
 
Adult social care is under significant pressure and the County Council under even 
greater pressure because local government has been targeted for much larger public 
spending reductions than other parts of the public sector. However, the County 
Council has fully funded the impact on demographic pressures on adult social 
care.  By 2017/18 the County Council will have invested £35m annually since 
2010.  Of this, £15m will have been invested in services for older people and £20m 
in younger adults. 
 
The investment is one of the reasons why the County Council has to make savings 
of £260m annually by 2017/18.  Within this total, adult social care will have made 
savings of £50m annually – approximately ¼ of the total adult social care budget and 
one-fifth of the total savings required of the County Council. 
 
As a result of the investment in demography and the fact that adult social care has 
made proportionately fewer savings than other services, the proportion of the 
Council’s budget that is devoted to adult social care has increased from 37% in 
2011/12 to 42% in 2014/15 and will increase still further in the future. 
 
Through the Better Care Fund, there will be an additional £8m contribution to 
protecting adult social care services in 2015/16. This will be on top of the current 
transfer of £10.5m from NHS England to Adult Social Care that will also form part of 
the Better Care Fund from next year, and the £1.35m for implementation of the Care 
Act (in line with national allocations)  
 
The identified schemes protect adult social care through investment in improved 
delivery, through enhanced pathways that move clients in to more cost effective care 
pathways, and through the creation of increased flexibility in budgets enabling the 
identification of shared benefits. 
 
Investments in an improved reablement service, and supported hospital discharge 
service, mean that patients will receive appropriate preventative reablement in the 
community and will be supported out of hospital in a way that ensures effective 

Page 40



Page 35 of 78 
 

 

functional improvement in ADL performance. Alongside improved clinical outcomes, 
this both reduces pressure on acute services – as effective community reablement 
reduces admissions – and reduces the amount and length of both home care and 
care home provision – as people are more able to manage independent. This 
combination of improved patient outcomes, decreased pressure on acute services, 
and reduced social care cost characterises the overall choices that Oxfordshire have 
made when reviewing decision about spending Better Care Fund funding.   
 
Enhanced pathways that support and protect adult social care are, for example, the 
investments identified to support both the delivery and management of care in care 
homes. Both of these increase quality and reduce admissions. The Care Homes 
Support Service engages proactively with care homes providing nursing input to 
improve the quality of care and reduce health risks to patients. This has recently 
expanded to provide additional dementia support. OCC joint commissioning work 
closely with care homes and through the provision of leadership, contract 
management and contract monitoring of services improve quality. The shared work 
of clinical support through primary care, of contract and quality management through 
OCC, and of nursing support through OHFT provide a coherent scheme targeted at 
increasing the quality of life of people in care home, and thereby extending healthy 
life and reducing admissions. 
 
The Council is currently developing a new strategic approach to the future delivery of 
home care. A ‘Help to Live at Home’ service will be procured during next year to 
replace the existing interim block contracts from April 2016. The intention is to have 
a framework contract of about 10 to 15 providers that guarantees a minimum level of 
business, subject to delivery. The Council will introduce an outcomes based 
approach, including incentives for providers to help people achieve greater 
independence so that they can remain living at home. Furthermore, providers will be 
contractually required to meet certain workforce expectations including the payment 
of travel time and travel costs.  
 
Flexible budgets have enabled the Older People’s pooled budget to protect services 
in adult social care where there is a clear benefit to the wider health and social care 
sector and contribution to reducing activity/costs in acute health care. There will be 
an emphasis on ensuring the right care in the right place, first time, and the vital links 
between intermediate community care and hospitals 
 
There is also clear evidence of the benefits of adult social care spending in saving 
costs elsewhere in the system. For example, the Alert Service is a countywide 
service providing telecare alarm equipment to vulnerable and older adults that will 
continue to be funded through transfer from NHS to social care under this plan. In 
September 2013, a review found that 39% of calls to the service were because the 
client was ill or had fallen. In 99% of these cases, the mobile responder was able to 
deal with these themselves, and in only two cases did the responder need to refer for 
an ambulance. At a cost per call-out of approximately £247, this is a saving of 
£53,105 (215 calls x £247) for the Ambulance Service in September alone (and this 
ignores the further NHS costs if any of these clients had been admitted to hospital). 
 
 
 

Page 41



Page 36 of 78 
 

 

iii) Please indicate the total amount from the BCF that has been allocated for 
the protection of adult social care services. (And please confirm that at least 
your local proportion of the £135m has been identified from the additional 
£1.9bn funding from the NHS in 2015/16 for the implementation of the new 
Care Act duties.)    
 
The £10.5m existing funds, transferred under Section 256 from the NHS to adult 
social care in 2014/15, will continue in 2015/16. An additional transfer of £8m for the 
protection and continuity of adult social care services will be made in 2015/16, 
alongside a further transfer of £1.35 m for implementation of Care Act 
responsibilities, in line with national and local calculations. 
 
iv) Please explain how the new duties resulting from care and support reform 
set out in the Care Act 2014 will be met 
 
Oxfordshire County Council has a well-established major change programme in 
place - the Adult Services Improvement Programme - to oversee the transformation 
of adult social care and implementation of reforms resulting from the Care Act. The 
programme includes a range of projects and developments specifically targeted at 
meeting the demands of the reforms, including: 
 
• Improving provision of online, telephone and face to face information and advice, 

including for self-funders 
• Developing a model of self-assessments, and development of an e-marketplace 

to drive choice and control for individuals  
• further support for carers in line with their right to access services, building on 

existing services including carers breaks 
• improving existing processes and systems to avoid duplication and make them as 

effective as possible, including a new IT system for Adult Social Care  
• developing new ways of working that support integration, including devolving 

responsibility to locality teams  
• developing the local market to better meet the needs of individuals 
• ensuring the social care workforce is suitably trained, skilled and rewarded 
 
The Better Care Fund plan will help to fund a number of the above areas of work, 
either directly (in the case of improved IT systems and support for carers) or 
indirectly through releasing resources by meeting the costs of demographic 
pressures. 
 
v) Please specify the level of resource that will be dedicated to carer-specific 
support 
 
Oxfordshire has a long history of working with carers, which has been highlighted in 
national work. The County Council and the Clinical Commissioning Group currently 
spend in excess of £6 million on supporting carers, as part of the existing pooled 
budgets.  Following modernisation of services in 2012, the number of carers known to 
services has increased by 14% since April 2013. 
 
In addition, there are significant concerns locally and nationally that central government 

Page 42



Page 37 of 78 
 

 

calculations significantly underestimate the number of carers who may come forward for 
an assessment and who are eligible for services. We therefore anticipate that nearly all 
the resources for the Care Act (£1.35 million) will be spent on either assessing more 
carers or providing services to them following assessment.  
 

 
vi) Please explain to what extent has the local authority’s budget been affected 
against what was originally forecast with the original BCF plan?  

There has been no impact on the budget as the allocation to protect social care is the 
same as in the original plan. 
 
 
b) 7 day services to support discharge 

 
Please describe your agreed local plans for implementing seven day services 
in health and social care to support patients being discharged and to prevent 
unnecessary admissions at weekends 
 
We are committed to delivering 7 day access to health and social care services, and have 
already implemented 7-day working across a number of elements of the health and social 
care system. This includes social work teams in hospitals, covering wards and all front 
doors (Accident and Emergency, community and acute hospitals, and Emergency Multi-
Disciplinary Units). We have also provided financial incentives to social care providers to 
pick up clients within 72 hours, including Fridays and over the weekend in both 
domiciliary care and care homes. The out of hours Social Care Emergency Duty Teams 
also ensure there is support available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week when needed.  
 
This will be developed further in accordance with the improvement intervention and 
principle of resource maximisation, and as part of our commitment to shared care co-
ordination. By end of September 2015 we will have seven day a week, 8am to 8pm 
access to health locality teams (coterminous with OCCG localities). This will include a 2 
hour response time to delivery of care for referrals for people with urgent and escalating 
needs. Referrals will be taken for:  Reablement, Older People, Mental Health, including 
psychological therapies, Occupational Therapy, physiotherapy, Speech and Language 
therapy, dietetics and nutrition, podiatry, continence, and falls.  
 
 
c) Data sharing 
i) Please set out the plans you have in place for using the NHS Number as the 
primary identifier for correspondence across all health and care services. 
  
Oxfordshire County Council is working with Oxford Health to ensure we are able to use 
the NHS number as the primary identifier for health and care services, and this will be 
built into routine processes in due course. NHS matching rates continue to improve 
although there is still some further work to achieve 100%.  
 

Page 43



Page 38 of 78 
 

 

ii) Please explain your approach for adopting systems that are based upon 
Open APIs (Application Programming Interface) and Open Standards (i.e. 
secure email standards, interoperability standards (ITK)). 
 
Social Care and health colleagues are working together to ensure that our respective 
tender processes for the SWIFT (Adult Social Care) and RIO (Health) replacements are 
aligned. Integration requirements have been appropriately specified within both 
Statements of Requirements 
 
Procurement exercises across local NHS and OCC are now complete and effective 
integration arrangements are being developed with respective suppliers.  
 
iii) Please explain your approach for ensuring that the appropriate Information 
Governance Controls will be in place. These will need to cover NHS Standard 
Contract requirements, IG Toolkit requirements, professional clinical practice 
and in particular requirements set out in Caldicott 2. 
 
Appropriate Information Governance controls are in place for information sharing in line 
with Caldicott 2. We will undertake further work to build these controls into all training 
materials, and ensure they are included in work already underway to communicate new 
information governance policies and procedures to staff.  
 
 
d) Joint assessment and accountable lead professional for high 

risk populations 
i) Please specify what proportion of the adult population are identified as at 
high risk of hospital admission, and what approach to risk stratification was 
used to identify them. 
 
This is covered in more detail in Section 3, Case for Change. 
 
 
ii) Please describe the joint process in place to assess risk, plan care and 
allocate a lead professional for this population  
 
GPs will continue to have a central role in leading the care co-ordination and signposting 
of our most frail and vulnerable residents.  We are committed to supporting the role of 
GPs through our integrated neighbourhood teams, to provide an increasing range of 
preventive and anticipatory measures to better support people closer to home and to 
avoid unnecessary non-elective admissions. 
 
Shared care co-ordination will form a key part of our commitment to establishing 
integrated health and social care, providing patients, service users, GPs and acute 
service providers with a single, straightforward route to well joined up, locality based 
care.  This will enable people to stay in their usual place of residence (or as close to it as 
possible) – for as long as possible, regardless of how many  different community based 
health and social care specialists are involved in providing them with care. 
The local health system has started on this work and each partner organisation has made 
progress with implementing national programmes.  For example, community health 

Page 44



Page 39 of 78 
 

 

services are implementing multi-disciplinary integrated teams at locality level, social care 
is moving forward with improvements to services to meet the Care Act including 
supported self-assessment, and primary care is seizing the challenge of the Local 
Incentive Scheme which targets those 2% of patients at greatest risk of admission and 
offers support in the form of a care co-ordinator and care plan. 
 
We want to take steps to foster a working approach of building trust across all 
professionals and partners. We seek to create an environment sufficient to merge social 
and medical cultures and move into integrated, more productive working relationships.  
We are developing the innovative approach of a 'Trusted Assessor' model, whereby 
professionals accept each other’s assessments. This is currently being trialled within 
social care, as part of implementation of the Care Act.  We intend to be a national leader 
in extending this initiative by means of enabling patients and carers to undertake their 
own self assessments and draw down their own individual budgets. 
 
Oxfordshire County Council is working with the Clinical Commissioning Group, Oxford 
Health and primary care to establish an appropriate and efficient model of joint 
assessments and care planning, including an accountable lead professional for 
integrated packages of care. Pilot work is underway, targeting the patients within 5 
localities with the highest levels of need and risk (including risk of unnecessary 
admission) and with particular focus on people with a diagnosis of dementia.  

 
This pilot work focuses on the development of a small and focused multi-disciplinary 
team of health and social care professionals within each locality who are able to respond 
and make decisions on urgent cases. Instead of clients in need of care or treatment 
having to contact several different agencies, these teams will assess each client’s needs 
and deliver appropriate and responsive solutions tailored to that individual. As a basis for 
building integration and testing our pilot programme, our intention is to use the patient 
cohorts who frequently rely on emergency services, such as our high intensity users and 
the 2% of the registered populations that general practices have identified at high risk of 
admission. 
 
iii) Please state what proportion of individuals at high risk already have a joint 
care plan in place  
 
It is anticipated that upwards of 85% of individuals identified at high risk of hospital 
admission by both health and social care services will have a joint care plan in place. 
These numbers will include patients with Advance Care Plans in place, and numbers will 
fluctuate over time due to mortality and other factors. 
 
8) ENGAGEMENT 
 
a) Patient, service user and public engagement 
Please describe how patients, service users and the public have been involved 
in the development of this plan to date and will be involved in the future.  
 
There was full and wide consultation as part of developing the Joint Older People’s 
Commissioning Strategy that sets the context for the proposals in this plan. This included 
online consultation, focus groups, workshops with a wide representation of older people 

Page 45



Page 40 of 78 
 

 

and providers, and a reference group comprised of and chaired by older people 
alongside commissioners.   
 
Service users are represented on the Older People’s Joint Management Group and the 
Older People’s Partnership Board, both of which have been involved in developing the 
proposals and will have roles in implementation. 

 
An additional workshop has been held with representatives of older people, learning and 
physical disability, mental health and carers to discuss and develop proposals. 
 
This plan also aligns closely to the Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group 5 Year 
Strategic Plan, that was subject to public consultation in late 2013 as part of the Call to 
Action. This plan has been further updated and refined in consultation with patient 
participation forums, patients and carers.  
 
 
b) Service provider engagement 
Please describe how the following groups of providers have been engaged in 
the development of the plan and the extent to which it is aligned with their 
operational plans  
 
i) NHS Foundation Trusts and NHS Trusts 
 
Apart from our system leadership arrangements, there have been extensive discussions 
at Chief Executive and Director level between the four organisations (OCCG, County 
Council, OUH, OUHT) as part of our shared commitment to tackle the issues and deliver 
the schemes set out in this plan.  This has included a chief operating officer working 
group that met several times to develop the plan over the summer and autumn, full 
engagement in discussions at the Health and Wellbeing Board meetings in March, 
September and January, and direct involvement in developing implementation plans. 
 
The schemes are closely aligned to the operational plans of both Oxford University 
Hospitals Trust and Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust, There is also a strong 
alignment with ongoing negotiations to develop an outcomes based commissioning 
model for frail older people, for which the providers have contributed a detailed proposal. 
 
All four organisations have also publically committed to the development of a single 
Health and Social Care Strategy for Oxfordshire over the coming months. 
 
Given the scale of the challenge to deliver a 6.5% saving on non-elective admissions 
(2013/14 baseline) (2% reduction + 4.5% growth), all parties have agreed to jointly 
manage the risks associated with this level of transformation and change.  Going forward 
all parties have agreed that we will work together to further refine our plans, to ensure 
that all are able to validate assumed activity reductions, which can then be considered as 
part of the annual contracting round 2015/16.  We note also the ongoing OCCG 
assessment of the OUH and OHFT joint venture as ‘most capable’ provider for delivery of 
the Older People’s Strategy.  In the event that the joint venture is deemed successful, the 
OCCG will amend the BCF plan to better reflect this. 
 
In addition all of our schemes have benefited from strong clinical leadership, having been 

Page 46



Page 41 of 78 
 

 

developed by clinicians and professionals coming together through working groups and 
workshops, on areas such as the DToC plan and ambulatory care pathways. 
 
 
Please note that CCGs are asked to share their non-elective admissions 
planned figures (general and acute only) from two operational year plans with 
local acute providers. Each local acute provider is then asked to complete a 
template providing their commentary – see Annex 2 – Provider Commentary. 
 
ii) primary care providers 
 
The six localities across the CCG have been briefed during the development of the BCF 
plans, and a number of localities are involved in piloting aspects of the plan’s delivery.  
Primary care has been represented in the discussions amongst Chief Executives. 
 
OCCG sees primary care as a key element of the front-line services that patients can 
access to receive direct care, information or advice. The role of general practice as a 
gate-keeper and onward referrer to other services needs to be enhanced in order to 
avoid its gatekeeping function becoming swamped, and access to secondary care 
services becoming the default choice for patients. OCCG and its member practices are 
developing a Primary Care Strategy, consistent with the national principles articulated in 
the NHSE Five Year Forward View – particularly to strengthen its front-line role and to 
enhance an intermediate level of service provided via ‘intermediate’ care hubs and 
collaborative models of care between practices.  
 
Increased capacity in primary care – via new roles such as Physicians’ Assistants and 
Emergency Care Practitioners, as well as multi-disciplinary access to pharmacists, 
specialist nurses responsible for a group of patients with a range of long-term conditions, 
and nurse practitioners responsible for minor illness or injury – will run alongside 
transformational approaches to complex case management, outcomes based 
commissioning, and devolution of budgets and multi-disciplinary staff to tackle locality 
issues through groupings of practices (potentially as a type of Integrated Care 
Organisation). 
 
iii) social care and providers from the voluntary and community sector 
 
Adult Social Care has been a key partner in the development of this plan, and has played 
a full and active role in working groups and engagement with providers from across 
health and social care. 
 
Providers of social care have been engaged in the development of the Older People’s 
commissioning strategy and the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, and participated in 
a workshop in early 2014 to inform the development of the plan along with 
representatives of older people, learning and physical disability, mental health and carers 
to discuss and develop proposals. 
 
The County Council helped establish the Oxfordshire Association of Care Providers in 
2014.  This has enabled adult social care providers to be involved in discussions about 
the response to key operational issues such as the resolving blockages in the system 
that lead to delayed transfers of care. 

Page 47



Page 42 of 78 
 

 

 
c) Implications for acute providers  

 
Please clearly quantify the impact on NHS acute service delivery targets. The 
details of this response must be developed with the relevant NHS providers, 
and include: 

- What is the impact of the proposed BCF schemes on activity, income 
and spending for local acute providers? 

- Are local providers’ plans for 2015/16 consistent with the BCF plan set 
out here? 
 

The challenge to reduce emergency admissions and to improve DToC is clear, and 
understood by all partners. As a health and social care community we share joint and 
equal responsibility for performance across the system and have agreed the rationale for 
setting a 2% reduction target in respect of non-elective admissions (set out in ‘Case for 
Change’ section 3), and duly developed our plans to achieve this target.  That said our 
collective ambitions extend beyond this and with the full support of OUH, through SRG 
we will build on this to increase our target to 3.5% over the coming year.   
 
We recognise that if our schemes fail to deliver the anticipated benefits for the 95% A&E 
target, non-elective admissions and DToC, the impact of the failure will be keenly felt by 
our acute care colleagues both clinically and financially.  We believe we have robust 
governance in place to monitor performance and manage risks as a whole-system, within 
our SRG and system leadership mechanisms.  
 
Translated into the number of non-elective admissions saved, against the 2013/14 base-
line we expect to achieve a reduction of 3,400 in 2015/16.  This reduction in activity will 
release just over £5m back into the commissioning pot.   
 
With regard to delayed transfers of care, against the 2013/14 baseline, our plans aim to 
save 3,364 bed days delayed in an acute setting.  This should result in savings related to 
excess bed days in the region of £1.7m to the commissioner and providers.  We would 
expect to see a reduction in DToC numbers (averaging 151 year to date) achieving a 
target of below 100 by year end (2015/16).   
 
The above initiatives should incentivise our acute partner to reduce bed-based 
infrastructure and in doing so, OUH should also experience cost savings. OUH is yet to 
quantify and share the opportunity this presents with the rest of the health/social care 
community. 
 
Our plans to improve primary care escalation out of hours have been calculated to save 
around 11,200 presentations in A&E, which should release £722k back to commissioners 
and support our plans to achieve 95% A&E target. 
 
Detailed work remains to finalise the specific means by which the desired distribution of 
funds, and associated management of risk, will be achieved across the health and social 
care economy. Part of this work is inevitably linked to the finalisation of OCCG 
commissioning intentions and 2015/16 contracting with all NHS Providers. 

 

Page 48



Page 43 of 78 
 

 

ANNEX 1 – Detailed Scheme Description 
For more detail on how to complete this template, please refer to the Technical 
Guidance  
Scheme ref no. 1 
 
Scheme name:– Emergency Multi-Disciplinary Unit (EMU) 

 
What is the strategic objective of this scheme?   
Expansion of an existing scheme. 
The Emergency Multi-Disciplinary Unit (EMU) is a key component of the ‘Healthier in 
Oxfordshire’ (blueprint) for priority in the Older People’s Joint Commissioning 
Strategy 2013-16. The scheme offers a tangible and more appropriate alternative to 
A&E for those who are frail and vulnerable to acute admission.  Patients may access 
the service in response to acute illness or because they require a multi-disciplinary 
assessment to prevent further deterioration of their condition.  
Overview of the scheme  
EMUs are Multi-Disciplinary Team (MDT) assessment units which include medical, 
nursing, therapy and social care to: 

• Assess urgent sub-acute health & social care needs to avoid an acute 
admission 

• Provision of sub-acute ‘turnaround’ 72 hour beds 
• Facilitate discharge from acute admission through community MDT 

assessment of reablement / rehabilitation / medical / nursing / social care 
needs 

• Interface with locality provision to agree and implement intervention / 
treatment within four hours of assessment (admission avoidance and early 
supported discharge) 

• Provision of outpatient rehabilitation therapy 
• Follow-up and review 
• Discharge to GP / onward referral as appropriate 

Facilitate and support effective communication of patient needs, diagnosis and 
treatment to relevant service providers contributing to individual’s care. 
 
The proposal is to expand the existing EMU services in Abingdon and Witney, to two 
more sites in Banbury (Horton Hospital) and Oxford City (The John Radcliffe 
Hospital). In addition system partners are designing a 'virtual' EMU which will provide 
county-wide coverage, and rely on technological solutions, such as point of care 
testing, telemedicine and remote working technology, to enable frontline community 
healthcare professionals to access specialist medical, gerontology, diagnostics and 
advice, so that people can be cared for in their own homes. 
The delivery chain 
Commissioners are Oxfordshire CCG and Oxfordshire County Council.  
The current provider is OHFT.  
The evidence base  
The two existing EMUs in Oxfordshire have a proven track record of providing an 
alternative to A&E.  The EMUs have received positive reviews from ECIST during a 
recent whole system diagnostic and are viewed as an essential service by GPs.   
Investment requirements 

Page 49



Page 44 of 78 
 

 

Based on our experience with existing EMU services, we anticipate each new EMU 
to require revenue costs of £1m/annum.  Essentially this will be derived from savings 
as a result of reducing dispositions to the emergency departments and non-elective 
admissions.  Any capital set up costs will be borne by the provider for these services 
and factored into their internal proposition for running the services.  The costs of the 
virtual EMU are under development. 
Impact of scheme  
The key system benefits from EMUs are: 

a) Reduction in A&E attendances. 
b) Reduction in admissions. 
c) Reduction in outpatient appointments. 
d) Increased early supported discharge leading to reduction in length of stay. 

Feedback loop 
The development of the new EMUs will be monitored through the SRG. The 
anticipated benefits including performance against non-elective admission and A&E 
attendance will be monitored through KPIs as part of the SRG dashboard. 
 
Once developed the schemes will be included in the established contract monitoring 
cycle. 
What are the key success factors for implementation of this scheme? 

• Impact on improving performance against 95% A&E target. 
• Reduction in non-elective admissions in line with BCF plan. 
• Delivery of a service focused on admission avoidance and early discharge 

through the provision of urgent sub-acute medical and social care. 
• ‘Buy-in’ to service from GPs and acute service provided to ensure that 

sufficient suitable referrals are received. 
•  High patient satisfaction with the service. 

  

Page 50



Page 45 of 78 
 

 

Scheme ref no. 2 
 
Scheme name:– Reablement pathway 
 
What is the strategic objective of this scheme?   
Expansion of an existing scheme. 
This is focused on increasing the number of people who could recieve reablement in 
the community. The system outcome is to reduce the long-term care needs of 
individuals. Development of a more sustainable system which will reduce costs and 
enhance the quality of medical and social care received by patients.  The focus of 
this scheme is to reappraise the multiple reablement services and existing pathways 
and seek to have one consistent pathway, assessment and process established. 
Overview of the scheme  
• The focus is on increasing the amount of reablement activity that occurs prior to 

admission, thus reducing system demand and improving the delivery of 
community based reablement support. Using established outcome-based models 
for home care alongside the national model for reablement, we will move to a 
single managed and coordinated pathway.  

• OCC will commission a single reablement pathway that will increase reablement 
activity by 50%, whilst ensuring reablement delivery is integrated into home care 
provision on an outcomes basis.  

• The new service to be focused on Increasing the quality and coordination of care 
given to patients.   

• It is proposed that there will be a reduction of costs though removal of 
management overheads, duplication and inefficiencies through multiple hands 
overs and referrals. 

The delivery chain 
The service is jointly commissioned between OOCG and OCC. 
The current main providers are OHFT (Reablement Service), OUH (Supported 
Hospital Discharge Service), and a range of third sector and private home care 
providers (reablement elements in home care provision, Discharge to Assess (D2A), 
and enhanced home care provision). 
The evidence base  
1. Evidence suggest that the current establishment of reablement services is overly 

complex and contains duplication. 
2. Increasing the patient numbers through reablement should improve the 

independence of individuals and prevent premature need for domiciliary and/or 
care home provision. 

Investment requirements 
OCC currently spend £5.5m and OCCG currently spend £1.5m on reablement. We 
intend to increase the overall spend on services that reable over the next 3 years – 
primarily by delivering increased reablement outcomes in home cares.  Assumptions 
on reablement spend are £5m from the older peoples pool on the reablement service 
(£3.5m from OCC and £1.5m from OCCG), £1.5m on SHDS outside the pool from  

Page 51



Page 46 of 78 
 

 

OCCG, and currently 10% of home care delivery (£20m from OCC in the Older 
Peoples Pool) delivering reablement outcomes.  
 
Investment will be required in the project management of the review and design of 
the new service and the re-procurement of services 
 
Impact of scheme  
An effective reablement pathway will result in: 
c) Reduction in patients ongoing care needs 
d) Cost savings to the system 
e) Improved patient experience 
f) Reduction in DToC 
Feedback loop 
The development of reablement will be monitored through the SRG. The anticipated 
benefits including performance against DToC will be monitored through KPIs as part 
of the SRG dashboard. 
 
Once developed the schemes will be included in the established contract monitoring 
cycle. 
What are the key success factors for implementation of this scheme? 
 
a) Reduction in DToC where reablement is the main reason for the delay. 
b) Reduction in proportion of older people requiring domiciliary/care home support. 
c) Streamlined reablement service – reducing handoffs. 
d) High patient satisfaction with the service. 
 
  

Page 52



Page 47 of 78 
 

 

Scheme ref no. 3 
 
Scheme name:– Reducing Delayed Transfers of Care 
 
What is the strategic objective of this scheme? 
New scheme. 
The Oxfordshire Delayed Transfers of Care (DToC) plan sets out the priority goals, 
objectives and actions that will be enacted in 2015/16 and beyond to improve 
performance against DToC key performance indicators.  In essence the whole-
system in Oxfordshire is working in partnership to reduce the proportion of individuals 
delayed unnecessarily in an acute environment. 
Overview of the scheme  
DToC Goals: The DToC goals are aligned to each of the main reasons for delayed 
transfers of care and provide a framework for improving clinical practice and process 
management and form the structure of the DtoC Plan. 
 
Goal 1.  Choice: To support patients and their families with exercising choice when 
care transfers, by managing expectations and ensuring that all processes are 
effectively managed to prevent unacceptable, extended inpatient care. 
 
Goal 2.  Reablement: To increase the numbers of individuals who could benefit from 
reablement services, thus improving their confidence and capability with regards to 
self-care management within their home, and reducing the likelihood of premature 
dependency on long term care interventions. 
 
Goal 3. Assessment: To ensure individuals access person-centred, comprehensive, 
appropriate and timely assessments, which foster the early engagement of their 
families/carers (where appropriate), and lead to a smooth transfer of care between 
agencies, thus preventing unnecessary delays. 
 
Goal 4. Non-acute NHS beds: To enable medically stable patients who require 
access to inpatient rehabilitation, gain an optimal level of functioning following a 
period of illness including stroke, trauma and other medical conditions. 
 
Goal 5.  Long Term Care Package: To enable people with reduced functionality to 
remain in their home, thus promoting and prolonging individual self-care and 
reducing the likelihood of premature dependency on institutionalised care. 
 
Goal 6. Residential Care and Nursing Homes: To ensure that individuals who 
require residential care, have timely access to facilities that promote individual self-
determination and are responsive to the changing physical and psychological needs 
of the individual. 
. 
Goal 7. Housing: To identify and remedy an individual’s housing needs at the 
earliest opportunity, thus preventing deterioration and need for health/social care 
intervention and/or delays in discharge from healthcare. 
 
Scheme Priorities: The process of investigation into DToC has identified 4 critical 
success factors that have been built into the plan: 

• Earlier engagement of patients and their families in transfer of care options, 

Page 53



Page 48 of 78 
 

 

• Improve the timeliness and efficiency of the assessment pathway particularly 
for frail, older people (including continuing health care assessments). 

• Become less ‘risk averse’ as a health/social care system thereby increasing 
the proportion of patients considered suitable for reablement. 

• Develop a broader perspective of what constitutes the whole-system thus 
bringing the independent care and residential provider sector alongside 
statutory agencies. 

 
Primary Objectives: In addition the plan has identified 6 primary objectives that are 
anticipated to have a significant impact on improving DToC performance: 

1. Full implementation of the joint Choice Policy. 

2. To bring about an increase the proportion of people who access reablement by 
default including a rise in uptake direct from the community.   

3. The development of an acute/community single assessment process for frail older 
people, with single documentation and consistent clinical assessment standards 
which are accepted by the onward step of the pathway. 

4. Taking steps to improve market management of independent care and residential 
agencies, and ensuring the risks and pressures that face this industry are 
understood as part of the whole system in Oxfordshire. 

5. The development of a homeless discharge pathway working with key homeless 
charities in Oxfordshire. 

6. The development of a housing assessment pathway to ensure that an individual’s  
housing needs are considered as early as possible, preferable before 
deterioration and an emergency admission are inevitable. 

The delivery chain 
Commissioners are OCCG and OCC. 
 
The main providers are OHFT, OUH and Oxfordshire adult social care. 
 
Other contributors include Age UK Oxfordshire, care homes, home care providers 
and other third sector providers who currently hold contracts to deliver services in 
Oxfordshire. 
The evidence base  
All statutory agencies are jointly responsible for delayed transfers of care that have 
been an enduring feature of the health and social care landscape in Oxfordshire.  
Nationally Oxfordshire has been an outlier since April 2011 when the Department of 
Health first started to publish the number of people delayed in inpatient care.  At 27.2 
per 100,000 population, Oxfordshire is almost 3 times the England average 9.7 per 
100,000. (DH 13/14 average).  Over the last year the system has seen some 
moderate improvement in delays where social care has been identified as the main 
reason, however overall this has not been sufficient to meet a 4.7% annual growth in 
demand within the emergency departments in Oxfordshire University Hospitals NHS 
Trust (OUH), in part attributable to an1% increase in the population aged 60 and 
above (in comparison with last year).   
 
A whole system investigation led by the Oxfordshire CCG and involving all agencies, 

Page 54



Page 49 of 78 
 

 

has identified a range of issues which contribute to DtoC as specified in the 
Oxfordshire DToC Plan.  
Investment requirements 
The plan includes both transactional and transformational objectives for 
improvement.  Management of the plan sits with a multi-agency steering group that is 
operational in format, reporting into the Systems Resilience Group. This means that 
additional investment in project management is not required at this time. 
 
Initially the plan is about improving the operational process of managing those who 
are avoidably delayed in their care which does not require further investment.  
However a number of areas for improvement may require investment at a future date 
which is yet to be determined. The primary reasons for DtoC are broad and the suite 
of initiatives contained within the Better Care Fund (BCF) plan are highly likely to 
have an impact on DtoC.  Hence although there will be some overlaying of schemes 
between the DtoC Plan and the BCF Plan, the investment requirements will be made 
explicit in the BCF Plan, so as to avoid double counting in respect of improvement 
metrics and investment. 
Impact of scheme  
System Wide Benefits – when fully implemented  
i Reduced delayed transfers of care. 
ii Earlier engagement of patients and their families/carers in ongoing care options. 
iii Improved assessment pathway for frail older people. 
iv Improved understanding of the financial, operational, workforce and other 

levers/constraints that impact on the independent care agency and residential 
care sector, and therein improved market management of the same. 

v Improved acute sector management of the continuing care assessment pathway. 
vi Increased use of reablement services. 
vii Earlier identification, and improvement in the management of individuals with 

housing issues, including those who are homeless and those whose housing 
requires deep-cleaning, maintenance or adaptations. 

viii Improved patient flow through the acute hospital system. 
ix Contributes to reducing the risk of crowding in the emergency department. 
x Financial benefit arising from reduced length of stay – potential for reducing acute 

bed base.  

Please enter details of outcomes anticipated in Part 2, Tab 4. HWB Benefits Plan 
Please provide any further information about anticipated outcomes that is not 
captured in headline metrics below 
Feedback loop 
A small steering group drawn from the leads for each of the DToC goals will report 
progress against the plan to the SRG quarterly and by exception should any 
extraordinary issue arise.  A number of new key performance indicators (KPIs) are 
indicated in the plan and these will be incorporated into the SRG dashboard. 
What are the key success factors for implementation of this scheme? 

• A reduction in DtoC against each of the main reasons for delay. 
• Joint Choice Policy fully implemented. 
• Earlier engagement of patients and their familes/carers in ongoing care 

Page 55



Page 50 of 78 
 

 

options. 
• Earlier involvement of social care where appropriate and the enactment of 

section 2s and 5s. 
• Improved relationships with the independent sector and effective market 

management. 

Page 56



Page 51 of 78 
 

 

Scheme ref no. 4 
 
Scheme name:– Ambulatory Emergency Care (AEC) 
 
What is the strategic objective of this scheme?   
New scheme. 
The Kings Fund reported in 2013 that commissioners should shift the current 
emphasis on acute and episodic care towards prevention, self-care and integrated & 
well-co-ordinated care to cope with an ageing population and increased prevalence 
of chronic diseases. Changes arising from advances in medical and surgical care, an 
increasingly skilled workforce, diagnostics and multidisciplinary working support 
service redesign opportunities in Oxfordshire. The AEC proposal presents an 
excellent opportunity to transform how traditional services are re-designed and 
delivered. 
Overview of the scheme  
AEC is defined by the Royal College of Physicians as: 
“Ambulatory (emergency) care is clinical care which may include diagnosis, 
observation, treatment and rehabilitation, not provided within the traditional 
hospital bed base or outpatient services and can be provided across the 
primary / secondary interface”  (Royal College of Physicians 2007) 
 
AEC Pathways are intended to manage patients presenting at an acute setting who 
require treatment, without requiring admission.  Patients are managed in a specific 
area with full access to diagnostics, medical advice and care with the intention that 
they will be appropriately discharged into the community as soon as possible. 
 
Best Practice Tariff (BPT) has been introduced to 19 of the scenarios to promote 
ambulatory care management for patients who are currently admitted and stay 
overnight. The 19 scenarios have been selected from the ‘NHS Institute’s Directory 
of AEC in Adults’.  The aim is to encourage the management of specific conditions 
within the same day.   
 
To achieve a functioning AEC model it is essential that a senior clinical review model 
is adopted so that patient management plans can be initiated immediately. The AEC 
model creates a ‘virtual ward’ of patients under remote clinical supervision whilst at 
home. The avoidance of unnecessary overnight stays for emergency patients not 
only improves the quality of patient care and experience but also reduces occupied 
bed days in hospital.  
Technological developments mean that patients are increasingly benefitting from 
shorter lengths of stay. The result is that fewer in-patient beds are needed and 
ambulatory type facilities are becoming more suitable, increasing the pathway of 
choice for patient care and treatment so patients are seen promptly, in the right 
place, by the right person and at the right time.    
 
Each of the conditions identified in the Directory of Ambulatory Emergency Care for 
Adults have a lower & upper limit as guidance for modelling activity levels.  For the 
purpose of this business case the upper limits have been used to calculate the 
proposed activity levels for each condition (listed in table 1 below) for patients being 
admitted to OUHT for the period October 2012 – September 2013 inclusive.  
 

Page 57



Page 52 of 78 
 

 

62 HRGs have been identified across 24 ambulatory conditions.  
Analysis has identified that there were 11,105 emergency admissions relating to 
these ambulatory conditions in the period October 2012-September 2013. The 
Directory of Ambulatory Emergency Care for adults produced by the NHS Institute 
identifies the range of potential percentages of admissions suitable for ambulatory 
care. The proposed changes of implementing an AEC model would offer the ability to 
increase this and achieve the upper limit.  
 
The home care services commissioned by OCC will support appropriate discharge 
into the community in a timely way. Existing packages of care will support people 
once they have been through the AEC Pathways. The future outcomes based 
approach to home care will enable people to manage in their own home and will 
support people to regain their independence.  
 
Using a new equipment contract OCC will be able to install telecare equipment, as 
appropriate, so that individuals can be monitored in their own homes. The telecare 
equipment will be linked to a call centre so that individuals can be monitored and 
action taken in an emergency. Furthermore OCC’s workforce development 
programme is training social care and health practitioners on the use of telecare 
equipment and its installation.  
The delivery chain 
Commissioners are OCCG 
 
The main providers are OHFT and OUH. 
The evidence base  
AEC Pathways have been successfully implemented in many health systems. 
Evidence has shown that where the AEC model has been implemented there has 
been immediate impact in the following 6 key areas: 
• Patient experience 
• Safety 
• Timeliness 
• Efficiency 
• Effectiveness 
• Patient-centred Care 
The underlying principle of AEC is that a significant proportion of emergency adult 
inpatients can be managed safely and appropriately on the same day without 
resulting in hospital admission. The Directory of ambulatory emergency care for 
adults identifies 49 clinical scenarios that could be managed on an ambulatory basis. 
Investment requirements 
No further investment is required at this stage. The implementation of new pathways 
should reduce costs for the commissioner arising from the transfer of payment for 
care under ambulatory best-practice tariffs for zero day length of stay and/or reduced 
short-stay tariffs. 
Impact of scheme  
An AEC model will provide rapid senior review, rapid diagnostics and rapid 
turnaround for patients without the requirement of staying overnight in a hospital bed. 
This will provide a positive impact on patient quality of care. 
Feedback loop 
The development of AEC pathways will be monitored through the SRG. The 
anticipated benefits including performance against non-elective admissions will be 

Page 58



Page 53 of 78 
 

 

monitored through KPIs as part of the SRG dashboard. 
Once developed the schemes will be included in the established contract monitoring 
cycle. HRG codes identified will be monitored to map the increase in same day 
treatment reducing Length of Stay to 0 days. 
What are the key success factors for implementation of this scheme? 
e) Reduction in the number of avoidable A&E attendances and non-elective 

admissions 
f) Patients receiving care closer to home. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 59



Page 54 of 78 
 

 

 

Scheme ref no. 5 
 
Scheme name – Integrated Neighbourhood Teams 
 
What is the strategic objective of this scheme? 
New scheme. 
This scheme will bring professionals together to deliver joined up personalised 
integrated care to patients in the community. The system outcomes are: improved 
population health; efficiency and effectiveness gains; and reduced service use 
through improved health and social capacity.  
 
This will bring integrated neighbourhood teams across primary care, social care and 
community health; working to a county model, with a single point of access, locality 
hubs and delivered across communities.  
 
Delivering the full range of support and care to the adult physical health and older 
people mental health requirements out of hospital.  
 
Working in partnership with volunteer organisations and private care providers. 
Overview of the scheme  
Model of care – neighbourhood teams will be based around an adult GP population 
of 30,000 – 50,000, delivering integrated health and social care.  Supported by joint 
back office ‘hubs’ based at a locality level and a countywide single point of access. 

- Working in partnership with volunteer organisations 
- Delivering a person centred approach 
- With a joined up electronic record, single assessments, care plans and 

personal support plans  
 
Patient cohort – covers the adult population of Oxfordshire, however those who will 
benefit the most are the older population and adults with complex needs. 
The delivery chain 
Commissioners are OCCG and OCC.  
 
The main providers will be OHFT, Oxfordshire adult social care and Oxfordshire 
GPs. 
 
Other providers include Age UK Oxfordshire, care homes, home care providers and 
other third sector providers who currently hold contracts to deliver services in 
Oxfordshire. 
The evidence base  
The evidence base is extensive, and the programme has drawn on both recent and 
historical published reports on the successful delivery of Integrated Care both 
nationally and internationally. 
 
It has also drawn on both the national and local involvement with the public, on what 
they want and need to remain independent and well in their own communities.  This 
has been enhanced from the learning of being a Personal Health Budget site, with 

Page 60



Page 55 of 78 
 

 

successful delivery to over 120 users and the work to implement integrated health 
and social care budgets. 
 
The learning from the impact of PHB in Oxfordshire, by improving quality of life, 
reducing reliance on health care and reduction of package costs, is being taken into 
account 
 
The learning from the lean programme in social care on the delivery of social care, 
and from the review of Personal Budgets delivery in social cared. 
 
The additional evidence base and impact is from the Oxfordshire Whole System 
analysis on the current state, issues, gaps and the individual pathways.  Showing up 
the shortcomings of the current models, that have led to an over complicated system 
in the community that has led to duplication and sub-optimal outcomes for both the 
users of the system and the staff who work within it in some key areas. 
Investment requirements 
Programme Director to lead and co-ordinate the work on behalf of OCC, OCCG 
Group and OHFT. 
Impact of scheme  
System Wide Benefits – when fully implemented  

xi Efficiency Gains 
• Reduction in GP appointments used just to refer to other professionals. 
• Reduce GP appointments by improvements in planned care by 243 per day (3 

per practice per day). 
• Reduce GP home visits by 81 per week by alternative response (1 per 

practice per week). 
• Less handoffs between teams and professionals.  
• More end of life care delivered at home. 
• Reduce duplication, so reduce one duplicate visit per team per day (75 per 

week). 
• Individual takes up responsibility for managing their own care from personal 

agreed outcomes. 
xii Effectiveness Savings  

• By less health crisis, leading to input from health and or social care teams. 
• Reduced Hospital admissions (15 per week). 
• Reduced Ambulance call outs (45 per week). 
• Reduced Emergency Department visits (45 per week). 
• Reduced care home admissions (180 per year) / shorter stays in care homes. 
• Earlier planned discharge from hospital (15 per week). 

 
xiii Improved Population Health 

• Improved self-management of Long Terms Conditions and complex health 
and social care. 

• Improve the independence and decrease loneliness and depression of the 
older population and adults complex needs.  

Page 61



Page 56 of 78 
 

 

xiv Improved use of resources 
• Joined up IT, leading to shared / single records. 
• Improved use of estates across whole system. 
• Reduce the burden on front line staff by streamlining, and improving 

accountability.  
xv Safer health and social care  

• Joined up IT leading to shared records.  
• Joined up teams. 
• One patient assessment and one care record.  
• Access to right support at first visit. 

 
xvi Individuals 

• Empowered to live the life they want to within whatever physical or conative 
limitations they have .  

• Personalised care integrated around them with agreed person outcomes, so 
listened to what will make the difference to them, so deliver the right fit to the 
individual.  

• Improved information and support to and for individuals and their support 
system, so they are empowered to make informed choices. 

• Have only to tell their information once; one integrated assessment and care 
plan that works for them not around services. 

• Supported in place to stay independent and active at home. 
• Supported to die at home if that is what they want. 
• Supported to stay out of hospital, except for planned care best delivered there. 

Feedback loop 
The Integrated Community Localities Programme Board oversees this work, and 
meets monthly, the Programme Director reports on the milestone plan and on the 
outputs from the agreed working groups developing and implementing the model. 
 
This Board reports to the System Transformational Group which in turn reports to the 
System Leadership and the Health and Wellbeing Board. 
 
When the countywide community health and social care teams are up and running in 
2015, the KPIs will be reported. 
 
What are the key success factors for implementation of this scheme? 

• To have delivered a new model of care for the delivery of community 
integration, and implemented it in 2015. 

• To have a single point of access for professionals to health and social care in 
the community in place 

• To have a Financial Flows Plan to support integrated delivery. 
• To have a rolling training programme to change of culture across all sectors to 

a personalised enabling approach.  

Page 62



Page 57 of 78 
 

 

• To have a county plan for electronic integrated patient notes.  
• That the public and patients / users are leaders in the integration 

developments. 
• That key voluntary organisations are partners in integration design and 

delivery. 
• To have system leadership in the community that enhances an integrated 

approach. 
• To have a joined up IT plan. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 63



Page 58 of 78 
 

 

Scheme ref no. 6 
 
Scheme name – Care Closer to Home (Advance care plans/end of life care and 
proactive medical support to care homes) 
 
What is the strategic objective of this scheme?   
New scheme. 
This scheme is about ensuring that our most frail citizens have access to appropriate 
care closer to home, in way that prevents unnecessary admission and improves the 
quality of End of Life Care.  The scheme pulls together a focus on our top 2% most at 
risk of a non-elective admission.  This scheme is not just patients in care homes, 
although a significant proportion of frail, elderly citizens are resident in care and 
nursing homes.  
 
A more sustainable system which will reduce costs and improve quality of life for 
patients and enhance the quality of medical cover for all residents of care and 
nursing homes, resulting in a reduction of the number of Non Elective (NEL) 
emergency admissions through proactive planning. 
Overview of the scheme  
There are two main components to this scheme 
Advanced Care Plans  -  

1) Building up from the requirements of the GMS contract, GPs will be required 
to identify their highest 2% risk patients and case manage them to avoid 
unplanned admissions. 

2) Implementation of a risk prediction tool to identify patients at high risk of 
admission to hospital which will inform a treatment plan and reduce the 
volume of avoidable admissions. 

 
Proactive Medical Support to Care / Nursing Homes 

• Facilitating the shift from ‘active’ management of disease with the aim of 
prolonging life, towards care with the primary aim of keeping the patient 
comfortable (often keeping them in the nursing home and avoiding 
unnecessary admission). 

• Rationalising the delivery of care by aligning every care home with a named 
practice and GP. 

• Delivering pro-active health care based on regular visits and contacts with 
Care and Nursing Homes to reduce crisis management and any further 
functional deterioration. 

• Removing multiple consultations per visit and providing a nor co-ordinated 
management of long term conditions. 

 
The delivery chain 
 
Commissioners are OCCG 
 
The main providers are GP practices and community providers. 
The evidence base  
National evidence suggests that enhanced primary care medical services to care / 
nursing homes has had success in driving up the quality of care and reducing 

Page 64



Page 59 of 78 
 

 

admissions / attendances to hospital and length of stay for patients where admittance 
to hospital is unavoidable. In nursing homes where there is no arrangement for a GP 
practice to provide weekly, routine visits and reviews, care is often reactive.  
 
Anticipated outcomes for service users echo those of the British Geriatric Society 
Commissioning Guidance 2013: 
‘Improved experience through high quality essential care and less disruption and 
stress caused to elderly patients by the reduction in the number of inappropriate 
secondary care attendances and admissions to hospital – delivered through the 
enhanced primary care service and supported by a comprehensive range of support 
services’ 
 
Three examples of where the model has been successful are as follows: 
3. In year one a pilot conducted in Yorkshire and Humber NHS, there was a 

reduction in emergency admissions of 6 admissions per 100 care home beds 
(approximately 9%) compared with the year before. In addition, the number of 
A&E attendances fell by 3 attendances per 100 care home beds (approximately 
10%) compared to the year before. 

4. Bath and North Somerset CCG has an enhanced service in place which sees 
GPs making regular ward round visits to nursing homes. This service now in the 
second year of a trial period, has seen the number of nursing home residents 
(registered with a BaNES GP) admitted to the RUH in Bath decrease by 40% 
since April 2012 

5. In East Cheshire, the introduction of one dedicated GP session per week via a 
contracted Local Enhanced Service to a Nursing Home has shown a statistically 
significant reduction in admissions to hospital. The study (reported this year) 
concluded that if this trend can be replicated on a larger scale residents should 
benefit from having consistent care and avoid potentially distressing hospital 
stays. Additionally, fiscal and resource benefits should be seen. 
 

Investment requirements 
Payment to practices is likely to be on a per bed per year basis within a range of 
£150 - £200, subject to the business case being agreed and negotiation with the 
LMC.   
Impact of scheme  
Proactive care planning will reduce the pressure on the following areas of the 
system: 

1) 999 Emergency Calls. 
2) 111 Calls. 
3) Out of Hours (OOH) requests. 
4) A&E attendance. 
5) NEL admissions. 

a. 29% reduction in NEL admissions from residents of care / nursing 
homes (500 per annum). 

b. 5% reduction in NEL admissions of the highest 2% of patients on the 
register of most risk of emergency admission. 

Feedback loop 
The development of care closer to home will be monitored through the SRG. The 
anticipated benefits including performance against non-elective admissions will be 
monitored through KPIs as part of the SRG dashboard. 

Page 65



Page 60 of 78 
 

 

What are the key success factors for implementation of this scheme? 
• Reduction in the number of avoidable A&E attendances and non-elective 

admissions. 
• Patients receiving care closer to home. 
• Facilitating the shift from ‘active’ management of disease with the aim of 

prolonging life, towards care with the primary aim of keeping the patients 
comfortable. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 66



Page 61 of 78 
 

 

 
Scheme ref no. 7 
 
Scheme name: – Hospital at Home 
 
What is the strategic objective of this scheme?   
Expansion of an existing scheme. 
This scheme is about expanding the provision of Hospital@Home, essentially 
delivering across the whole county 24/7, to maintain peoples care within their own 
home, through a sub-acute episode of need, for up to 14 days, including: 
• rapid community assessment and intervention to avoid acute admission, 
• nursing intervention to facilitate and enable timely discharge from acute 

admission, 
• holistic care that promotes and supports individuals in maintaining their 

independence. 
Integrated operational delivery across the sub-acute urgent care pathway to ensure 
high quality, safe care that minimises patient delays in all settings; working in 
partnership with out of hours services, crisis services and community nursing. 
Overview of the scheme  
The objectives for this service are to establish and deliver : 

• GP locality-specific operational pathways to deliver sub-acute urgent nursing 
care in the individual’s home, seven days a week. 

• Assessment and intervention within 0-4 hours of referral. 
• Facilitate effective primary care (in and out of hours) assessment and review 

of patients to provide medical input to home-based urgent nursing care. 
• Co-ordination of multi-disciplinary assessment, intervention and review of 

patients referred into the service (in or close to their home.) 
• Effective joint operational delivery of urgent care in the home with social care 

rapid / “crisis” support. 
• Effective interface arrangements with acute (Emergency Department, 

Diagnostics and Gerontology / General Medicine specialist / inpatient 
provision), ambulance providers (999 and patient transport services) to 
ensure patients are treated in their own home wherever clinically appropriate, 
and supported in early and proactive discharge from acute inpatient 
admission. 

• Effective operational liaison with other community health and social care 
services (urgent and planned care, statutory and third sector provision – e.g. 
long term conditions management, end of life care, care home support 
service, reablement and long term care) to ensure coordinated and seamless 
patient care, and timely and safe discharge from Hospital at Home. 

 
Patient cohort – covers the adult population 18+ who are registered with an 
Oxfordshire CCG GP  
Delivering:  

• Assessment and monitoring of patient vital signs. 
• Holistic nursing care to support stabilisation / recovery of presenting condition, 

including ensuring mobility, nutrition, fluids. 
• Phlebotomy. 
• Anticoagulant stabilisation therapy. 

Page 67



Page 62 of 78 
 

 

• DVT treatment. 
• Blood transfusions (to be determined). 
• Subcutaneous fluids. 
• IV antibiotics. 
• Urgent provision of equipment. 

The delivery chain 
The commissioners are OCCG.  
 
There are two providers split geographically - OHFT (South and East including 
Oxford City) PML (North and West). 
The evidence base  
A systematic review of trials comparing ‘hospital at home’ schemes with inpatient 
care found that, for selected patients, avoiding admission through provision of 
hospital care at home yielded similar outcomes to inpatient care, at a similar or lower 
cost (Shepperd et al 2009a). Elderly patients with a medical event such as stroke or 
COPD, who are clinically stable and do not require diagnostic or specialist input, had 
slightly more subsequent admissions in the hospital at home group, but had greater 
levels of satisfaction, and their care at home was less expensive. 
 
The additional evidence base and impact is from the Oxfordshire Whole System 
analysis on the current state, issues, gaps and the individual pathways.  Which is 
showing the effect of Hospital at Home delivered in the county on deflection of 
admissions; especially in the exacerbation of illness in the last few weeks of life. 
Investment requirements 
The cost of the service county wide is £1.4 Million. 
Impact of scheme  
Reduction of non-elective admissions annually of 1,835. 
 
This has the additional effect of reducing ambulance call outs and emergency 
department attendances.  
 
Reducing the length of stay following elective surgery. 
Feedback loop 
The development of hospital@home will be monitored through the SRG. The 
anticipated benefits including performance against DToC and reduced non-elective 
admissions will be monitored through KPIs as part of the SRG dashboard. 
 
Once developed the schemes will be included in the established contract monitoring 
cycle. 
What are the key success factors for implementation of this scheme? 
Reduction of non-elective admissions for individuals who are experiencing: 

• Reduction in non-elective admissions. 
• Reduction in DToC for nonacute onward transfer of care to a community bed 

or service. 
• Exacerbations of chronic diseases (including COPD, heart failure, diabetes, 

dementia). 
• Reduction in sudden onset medical illness in frail elderly. 
• Maintaining individuals with a range of infections at home. 
• Increasing the number of people who are enabled to die at home with dignity. 

Page 68



Page 63 of 78 
 

 

• Reducing the length of stay following elective surgery by delivering the care / 
monitoring at home. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 69



Page 64 of 78 
 

 

Scheme ref no. 8 
 
Scheme name – Oxfordshire Care Summary: proactive care planning  
 
What is the strategic objective of this scheme? 
Existing scheme. 
Avoiding unplanned admissions through the capturing and sharing of electronic data 
to produce multi-agency, high-quality, up-to-date care plans at the point of care. 
Overview of the scheme  
The Oxfordshire Care Summary (OCS) already delivers standard views of data from 
GP practices and the Oxford University Hospitals Trust (OUHT) to over 800 
registered clinical users, with demonstrable benefits.  It is anticipated that this 
number will rise sharply in early 2015 
The data set required for high-quality care planning has already been identified by 
clinical users in response to the enhanced service specification: risk profiling and 
care management scheme. 
The proactive care planning scheme will: 

• Enable the capturing of the care planning data set in GP systems by means 
of a clinical template. 

• Enable the sharing of the care planning data set to the Oxfordshire Care 
Summary by means of requesting the approved Read codes from the data 
supplier. 

• Enable the most effective presentation of the care planning data set by 
means of liaising with urgent care clinicians to develop the display within the 
Oxfordshire Care Summary 

• Promote the posting of care documents such as DNACPR forms for sharing 
via the OCS. 

• Promote the use of the Oxfordshire Care Summary across health and social 
care providers in Oxfordshire. 

• Seek clinical data from other providers as soon as it is available in order to 
increase the breadth and depth of the data set and to reduce the risk of  
processing errors in the information chain. 

The delivery chain 
• OCCG commissions the OCS.  The Senior Responsible Officer for the project 

is the Chief Finance Officer, and the project is overseen by the CCG IM&T 
programme board. 

• The project board has clinical representation from  OCCG, GPs, OHFT, OUH, 
and OCC. 

• Suppliers are OUH IM&T department (software and development), and 
Healthcare Gateway Ltd (GP data via the Medical Interoperability Gateway). 

• The project is run by the Central Southern Commissioning Support Unit. 
The evidence base  

1. In April 2014, NHS England stated: 
Unplanned admissions to hospital are distressing and disruptive for patients, carers 
and families. Many unplanned admissions are for patients who are elderly, infirm or 
have complex physical or mental health and care needs which put them at high risk 
of unplanned admission or re-admission to hospital (NHS England Gateway 
reference: 01520) 

2. The OCCG five year strategy and implementation plan (2014) stated these 

Page 70



Page 65 of 78 
 

 

objectives to: 
• Be financially sustainable. 
• Be delivering fully integrated care, close to home, for the frail elderly and 

people with multiple physical and/or mental health needs. 
• Routinely enable people to live well at home and to avoid admission to 

hospital when this is in their best interests 
3. The NHS Commissioning Board enhanced service specification for risk 

profiling and care management scheme (2014) aimed to identify patients most 
at risk of serious illness or emergency hospital admission and  instigate 
proactive care planning to improve their quality of care and life and to reduce 
avoidable admissions to hospital 

4. In December 2014 informal reports indicate that urgent care services often still 
do not have access to care plans where they feel patients meet the criteria for 
having one. 

Investment requirements 
• Development and implementation costs: £250 000 
• 3rd party supplier costs: £150 000 

Impact of scheme  
With real time data from multiple providers in a patient-centred view accessed as 
a matter of routine: 

• Patients will be aware that they have a care plan and will feel more 
confident that their needs will be met in an urgent care situation 

• Clinicians will be able to spend less time processing information to share , 
the risk of error will be reduced and the quality of information will improve 

• Clinicians will be able to spend less time searching for information (already 
evidenced where OCS has been deployed). 

• Real time care planning across organisations will reduce the risk of a 
deterioration leading to an urgent care event. 

• Up to date medical information has already reduced the risk of 
inappropriate prescribing, clinical errors, unnecessary investigation, and 
unnecessary admissions; an increase in the quantity and scope of 
information will mean that patients will not be unnecessarily conveyed or 
admitted, and will be maintained on their usual care pathway more often. 

• Information from community, mental health and social care will mean that, 
where attendance at A&E or admission cannot be avoided, discharges will 
be more timely and appropriate. 

Feedback loop 
• Data sets will be agreed by clinicians and approved by the CCG.  
• Benefit measures will be agreed by the CCG; providers will be asked to own 

them and participate in benefits measurement activities. 
• Providers will be asked to enable users to access and, when possible, 

contribute to the OCS. 
• The OCS project team will deliver the product and measure uptake and 

benefits.  The team will report to project board which will in turn report to the 
IM&T steering group. 

Page 71



Page 66 of 78 
 

 

 
What are the key success factors for implementation of this scheme? 

• Urgent care services will have access to care planning information when they 
need it 

• The information is straightforward to access and is presented in a clear and 
predictable manner. 

• Urgent care services report that the information contained in the care plan 
successfully interrupted a usual triage response / prevented conveyance / 
prevented admission to hospital. 

• When fully implemented, clinicians are able to process data only once in order 
to record and share it. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 72



Page 67 of 78 
 

 

 

Scheme ref no. 9 
 
Scheme name:- Protecting Adult Social Care. 
 
What is the strategic objective of this scheme?   
 
Existing scheme. 
To protect adult social care, by avoiding the need to make further significant cuts in 
spending.  
Overview of the scheme  
The focus of this scheme will be prioritising the services that have the biggest impact 
on meeting the shared need to reduce demand for health and social care services by 
ensuring high quality, joined up services that support people to live independent and 
successful lives for as long as possible.  
 
The focus in particular will be on frail older people (see evidence base below). This 
will include continuing investment in a range of activities, some of which are covered 
in more detail as part of other schemes within this Annex: 
 

• Long term care packages – as part of meeting the care and support needs 
of individuals, particularly in the face of increased demand for services that is 
likely to increase with the implementation of Care Act / funding reform 
changes from April 2016 onwards. 

• Equipment – investing in a wide range of assistive technology and more 
traditional equipment / aids to support people to live independently 

• Intermediate care – including reablement services to support people 
regaining independence.  

• Services to support discharge – such as assessing people in their own 
home after discharge rather than in hospital as shown to increase the 
likelihood of them regaining / retaining independence. 

The delivery chain 
These services are all commissioned by Oxfordshire County Council through the 
Older People’s pooled budget, working closely with the CCG as appropriate. 
 
The services are provided by a mixture of community / voluntary sector providers, 
and Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust, with all contracts closely monitored and 
managed by the County Council. 
The evidence base  
Long term care packages 
Since April 2011 the number of people receiving home care arranged by the council 
has risen from 1485 to 2142 people. The number of people receiving a direct 
payment has risen from 732 to 1473. This represents a 63% increase in people 
supported at home in 3½ years. (Source 25 November 2014 Briefing on the New 
Model for Home Care) 
 
Reablement 
However work by the department of health (CSED) suggested that a population the 

Page 73



Page 68 of 78 
 

 

size of Oxfordshire should expect to provide 3500 episodes of reablement a year, 
with half of these coming from people leaving hospital and half from people in their 
own home. This is based on a medium performing medium mature service. In 
Oxfordshire in the 12 months from October 2013, 1955 new episodes were of people 
who had been in hospital but only 865 from their own home (2820 episodes in total). 
This is 20% below the level expected. The reason for this was a lack of referrals to 
the service for people in their own home. To this end focus work to increase referrals 
is underway with GPs, the council's social and health care team and people 
providing information in local communities. 
 
Intermediate Care Beds. We currently purchase 49 beds. OUH alone believe they 
need 14 discharges per week (work on 69 discharges). If each person were to last 4 
weeks would take up 56 beds if they stayed 4 weeks. 10 admissions a week would 
take 40 beds of the 49 from acute. This is suggestive of a need for a comprehensive 
intermediate care strategy. 
 
Services to support discharge 
So far this year we have made 7 new packages per week. Home care delays have 
risen. At a rate of 9 per week delays have dropped. Need to increase from 7 to 9 per 
week. 
Investment requirements 
 
Impact of scheme  
 

• Avoiding the need to make significant further cuts in adult social care funding.  
• Reducing demand for adult social care. 
• More people supported to live at home. 
• Reduced placements in residential care. 
• Reduced emergency admissions. 
• Increased use of reablement. 

Feedback loop 
The County Council uses a range of mechanisms to gather feedback from service 
users and carers, including surveys, partnership forums, representatives on Joint 
Management Groups and other governance arrangements, and annual listening 
events. We also have good working relationship with Healthwatch Oxfordshire.  
 
This is added to intelligence gathered from regular monitoring visits (all services are 
reviewed at least annually with more frequent monitoring on a risk based approach) 
and monthly reviews of activity and spending through the Joint Management Group. 
Appropriate action is agreed and implemented, and reported back to assess impact. 
What are the key success factors for implementation of this scheme? 

• Protection of adult social care, particularly spending.  
• Delivery of high quality, joined-up services. 
• Service user and carer satisfaction with services. 
• More people supported to live independently at home. 

 
  

Page 74



Page 69 of 78 
 

 

Scheme ref no. 10 
 
Scheme name:- Care Act Implementation 
 
 
What is the strategic objective of this scheme?   
 
To implement fully the Care Act 2014. 
Overview of the scheme  
Existing scheme. 
OCC has a well-established major change programme in place - the Adult Services 
Improvement Programme - to oversee the transformation of adult social care and 
implementation of reforms resulting from the Care Act. The programme includes a 
range of projects and developments specifically targeted at meeting the demands of 
the reforms, including: 
 
• Improving provision of online, telephone and face to face information and advice, 

including for self-funders 
• Developing a model of self-assessments, and development of an e-marketplace 

to drive choice and control for individuals  
• further support for carers in line with their right to access services, and meeting 

the anticipated increase in demand for assessments, building on existing services 
including carers breaks 

• improving existing processes and systems to avoid duplication and make them as 
effective as possible, including a new IT system for Adult Social Care  

• developing new ways of working that support integration, including devolving 
responsibility to locality teams  

• developing the local market to better meet the needs of individuals 
• ensuring the social care workforce is suitably trained, skilled and rewarded 
 
The BCF plan will help to fund a number of the above areas of work, either directly 
(in the case of improved IT systems and support for carers / meeting the cost of 
increased demand for assessments) or indirectly through releasing resources by 
meeting the costs of demographic pressures. 
The delivery chain 
This finding will be used by the County Council as provider of adult social care 
teams, and to commission a range of community, voluntary, public and private sector 
providers to deliver the required reforms. 
The evidence base  
Implementing the Care Act is a national requirement that is a key priority for OCC.  It 
is also a requirement of the Better Care Fund agenda, and the funding allocation is 
set nationally. 
 
The projects and developments are based on existing best practice within 
Oxfordshire and across the country, and also the national evidence base developed 
by the Department of Health within the impact assessments that support the new 
legislation.  
Investment requirements 
£1.35m has been committed from the BCF to fund Care Act initiatives. 

Page 75



Page 70 of 78 
 

 

Impact of scheme  
• To meet the cost of increased demand for assessments, particularly for carers 

assessments under the Act. 
• New and improved processes and systems to support and improved client 

experience – as well as financial benefits for the Council and better recording 
of client information. 

• Improved information, advice and signposting to support greater 
understanding and decision-making about how individuals can have their care 
and support needs met. 

• Enhancing the trained and qualified adult social care workforce, both within 
the Council and across providers. 

Feedback loop  
OCC uses a range of mechanisms to gather feedback from service users and carers, 
including surveys, partnership forums, representatives on Joint Management Groups 
and other governance arrangements, and annual listening events. We also have 
good working relationship with Healthwatch Oxfordshire.  
 
This is added to intelligence gathered from regular monitoring visits (all services are 
reviewed at least annually with more frequent monitoring on a risk based approach) 
and monthly reviews of activity and spending through the Joint Management Group. 
Appropriate action is agreed and implemented, and reported back to assess impact. 
What are the key success factors for implementation of this scheme? 

• Meeting new legislative requirements from April 2016. 
• Demand for social care services, including number of assessments and 

number people supported. 
• Service user and carer satisfaction with services. 
• Implementation of new IT system for adult social care by May 2015. 
• Improved diversity in the social care market. 
• Improved integration of and/or join up between health and social care 

services. 
• Improved accessibility to services to meet individuals care and support needs. 

 
 
 
 
 
  

  

Page 76



Page 71 of 78 
 

 

Scheme ref no.11 
 
Scheme name: - Carers Breaks 
 
What is the strategic objective of this scheme?   
Existing scheme. 
The strategic objectives of the scheme are: 

1. To support carers to continue to play an essential role in the development of 
health and social care services in Oxfordshire. (61,131 of Oxfordshire 
residents, - 9.4% of the population provide some unpaid care. 1 in 5 carers 
gives up work to care, carers are twice as likely to suffer ill-health as those not 
performing a caring role). 

2. To identify more carers so that they are able to receive timely advice and 
support. 

3. To provide respite in order to maintain health and wellbeing of carer and 
prevent carer breakdown. 

4. To maintain the cared for person in their own home for as long as possible. 
5. To prevent unnecessary hospital admissions and admissions to residential 

care. 
6. To reduce hospital discharge delays. 
7. To reduce referrals to social care. 
8. To reduce average cost of support plans. 

Overview of the scheme  
1. Model of Care 

a. Close working between OCC and OCCG to provide individual grants for 
carer support.  

b. Delivered through  
a. GP grants for carer breaks  
b. Adult Social Care grants for breaks and other services which 

provide respite functions to carers. 
c. Carers self-assess  
d. Carers provided with Direct Payment. 

 
2. Which patient cohorts are being targeted? 

a. Carers providing over 20 hours of care per week. 
b. Carers deemed to be at risk of a detrimental impact to their health and 

wellbeing. 
c. Carers at risk of carer breakdown. 

The delivery chain 
1. Commissioners are Oxfordshire County Council and Oxfordshire Clinical 

Commissioning Group. 
2. Carers can self-assess via the Carers Oxfordshire website, or 
3. Carers can registers as a carer with their GP and self-assess via their GP 

practice. 
4. GP send appropriate applications to OCC. 
5. OCC provides a Direct Payment to carers via either route and meet the above 

criteria. 
6. Carers required to provide evidence of expenditure of Direct payment. 

The evidence base  
Carers’ survey: An evaluation of both the GP carer grants scheme and the adult 

Page 77



Page 72 of 78 
 

 

social care grants scheme was undertaken, 110 people responded to the survey. 
(55%) Use and benefits obtained from the schemes were assessed. The grant 
provided a wide range of supportive outcomes for carers. Many carers, when 
describing how they used the grant described how they felt about the recognition 
having the grant gave them as well as the practical help it provided. 
 
Personalisation and carers:  The importance of breaks for carers to continue their 
caring role has been repeatedly highlighted and the Government recommends that 
one of the most effective ways of supporting carers is through providing them with 
breaks (HM Government (2010), Recognised, valued and supported: next steps 
for the Carers’ Strategy. London: Centre for Information.). 

The funding for breaks is designed to offer more than simply time off caring. It offers 
the chance for the carer to do something for themselves. The breaks are designed to 
be tailored to the carer’s needs as the result of a carer's assessment, which 
considers all the carer’s choices and needs, including health, work, leisure, learning 
and other commitments 

Progressing Personalisation.  (2012) Carers Trust: Highlighted the barriers and 
opportunities for carers and local authorities in the delivery of carers’ breaks through 
direct payments. The numbers of carers identified and supported in Oxfordshire who 
are non FACS eligible  continues to rise in spite of a general trend for many 
Authorities to be concentrating spending on those with  critical and substantial needs   

In the Review of personal budgets and direct payments for carers, Think Local, 
Act Personal (TLAP) have looked at how personal budgets are being used and 
suggest that the essential component is agreeing outcomes that the personal budget 
is supposed to address. TLAP recommends that to allow flexibility and choice, 
outcomes need to be expressed in the broadest terms; The model of breaks follows 
this recommendation. 
Investment requirements 
Source of Investment Amount 
Social Care Grant 354,000 
Life of Your Own Grant 342,000 
GP grant 604,000 
Total 1,300,000 

 

Impact of scheme  
Preventative outcomes remain difficult to measure, however carers report the use of 
the grant has reduced isolation, maintain contact with families, and allowed a break 
from caring. We are measuring the following some of which we understand to be 
attributable to this preventative approach.   

1. More carers identified in GP practices (GP register of carers). 
2. More Carers able to access a break making the caring role sustainable.  
3. Cared for remains in community for longer (Care home data).  
4. Reduced delays in hospital discharge. 

Feedback loop  
We have administered the scheme through both the 72 GPs surgeries and through 
the Local authority customer services centre. This has been reviewed jointly with 
under the carers’ joint strategy Group. A workshop considered the outcomes and in 
preparation for the Care Act additional changes will be introduced to ensure equity 

Page 78



Page 73 of 78 
 

 

and consistency in the scheme: 
• The number of carers breaks awarded each year is measured. 
• Carer satisfaction is measured in the national carers' survey. 
• Oxfordshire carers satisfaction is measured in the local carers' survey. 

What are the key success factors for implementation of this scheme?  
• Carers report that they feel valued and supported to continue their caring role. 
• Carers report that Self-Assessment is simple to administer and they feel in 

control of the process. 
• More carers are identified through the process. 

 
 
  

Page 79



Page 74 of 78 
 

 

Scheme ref no. 12 
 
Scheme name:  Primary Care 
 
What is the strategic objective of this scheme?   
New schemes. 
This scheme embodies Oxfordshire's CCG's commitment to support a range of GP-
led initiatives designed to extend GP services and improve the patient's experience 
of primary care.  Collectively the initiatives will: improve education and support to 
people with long-term conditions to promote self-care management; respond urgently 
to prevent deterioration in those with a known long-term condition; increase primary 
care provision during periods when the health and social care system is experiencing 
significantly increased pressure according to the Oxfordshire Escalation Framework; 
and support improved flow through bedded care and offer alternatives to A&E 
attendance and non-elective admission. 
 
This scheme includes the Oxfordshire proposal in response to the Prime Ministers 
Challenge Fund. 
Overview of the scheme  
The scheme includes: 
• Complex care teams – GP-led teams that will maintain personal care plans and 
support urgent assessments before 1pm when required. 
• Sub-locality hubs – Collaborative working between practices that will increase 
capacity for same day assessments and enable GPs to have more clinical facing 
time with those who have long-term conditions. 
• Improving health literacy – Ageneral practice interactive web-based health site 
providing specific condition guidance and sign-posting to other support.   
• Extended access hours i.e. linking out of hours to primary care escalation – 
Enabling GP services to be available across the county from 8am – 8pm. and use of 
duty doctor at practices closest to EDs to support ED turnaround and offer patients 
alternative to ED attendance. 
• Support of early discharge - By undertaking home visit on the same / next day 

of higher acuity patients released from bedded care 
 
In addition the Emergency Duty Team (out of hours OCC social work response), 
together with a review of control centres for safeguarding, EDT, crisis, telecare and 
equipment provision, will ensure a consistent social care response to primary care 
requests for out of hours social care support.  
 
To complement extended opening hours OCC will require home care providers to 
respond to care package requests in the evening and over the weekend. In addition 
OCC recommissioned home care services will be required to put in place an 
emergency care package within 24 hours and standard care packages within 48 
hours.  
The delivery chain 
Commissioners are OCCG. 
 
The main providers are GP practices. 
The evidence base  
Various national initiatives are ongoing to support increased access to primary care 

Page 80



Page 75 of 78 
 

 

during out of hours periods or to support particular cohorts of patients, such as: 
• NHS England Directly Enhanced Services. 
• Prime Minister’s Challenge Fund. 

Investment requirements 
Further work is underway to fully identify investment and saving opportunities. 
 
However an example of the cost of extended opening  -  
a) £200 per hour cost, to include receptionist, 1 nurse and 1 GP for 3.5 hours (1830-

2200). 
 
b) Either offering 4 practices (two in Oxford, two in Banbury) an evening, or 2 sets of 

staff in one practice; Total cost = £800 per evening for 80 days a year = £64,000 
 

GP home visit on the same / next day of discharge 
b) Cost of £100 per additional home visit specific for this cohort of patients 
 
c) It is estimated that this will support the additional discharge of 5 patients daily 

such that c.30 patients per week would be supported home early. Across 6 
weeks, this equates to 180 patients. 

 
d) Total cost of GP visits = £18,000 
 
TOTAL COST = £82,000 
Impact of scheme  
Extended opening  -  
Attendance will save £64.50 estimated as average cost of minor ED attendance 
(VB09Z Cat 1 investigation with Cat 1-2 treatment = £72) ; (VB11Z No investigation 
with no significant treatment = £57). 
 
11,200 patients avoiding ED attendance at an average cost of £64.50 = £722,400  
 
1% reduction in non-elective admissions from this cohort of patients = 112 
admissions avoided. Overnight estimated cost of NEL admission = £500. Savings 
associated with NEL admission reduction = £56,000 
 
GP home visit on the same / next day of discharge 
It is estimated that this will support the additional discharge of 5 patients daily such 
that c.30 patients per week would be supported home early. Across 6 weeks, this 
equates to 180 patients. 
 
Reducing LOS by 1 day for patients in a bedded care setting (estimated cost £500) 
will produce savings of £90,000 
 
TOTAL IMPACT OF SCHEMES: £786,400 
Feedback loop 
The development of the primary care federations will be monitored through the SRG. 
The anticipated benefits including performance against non-elective admission, A&E 
attendance and DToC, will be monitored through KPIs as part of the SRG 
dashboard. 
 

Page 81



Page 76 of 78 
 

 

Once developed the schemes will be included in the established contract monitoring 
cycle.  
What are the key success factors for implementation of this scheme? 

• Reduction in A&E attendances. 
• Reduction in non-elective admissions. 
• Reduction in DToC. 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 82



Page 77 of 78 
 

 

ANNEX 2 – Provider commentary 
 
For further detail on how to use this Annex to obtain commentary from local, acute 
providers, please refer to the Technical Guidance.  
 
Oxford Health Foundation NHS Trust. 
 
Name of Health & Wellbeing 
Board  

 Oxfordshire Health and Wellbeing Board. 

Name of Provider organisation  Oxford Health Foundation NHS Trust. 
Name of Provider CEO  Stuart Bell. 

Signature (electronic or typed)   
 
For HWB to populate: 
Total number of 
non-elective 
FFCEs in general & 
acute 
 
 

2013/14 Outturn   
2014/15 Plan   
2015/16 Plan   
14/15 Change compared to 13/14 
outturn   

15/16 Change compared to planned 
14/15 outturn   

How many non-elective admissions is 
the BCF planned to prevent in 14-15?   

How many non-elective admissions is 
the BCF planned to prevent in 15-16?   

 
For Provider to populate: 
   
  Question Response  

1. 

Do you agree with the data 
above relating to the impact of 
the BCF in terms of a reduction 
in non-elective (general and 
acute) admissions in 15/16 
compared to planned 14/15 
outturn? 

  

2. 

If you answered 'no' to Q.2 
above, please explain why you 
do not agree with the projected 
impact?  

 

3. 

Can you confirm that you have 
considered the resultant 
implications on services 
provided by your organisation? 

  

 

Page 83



Page 78 of 78 
 

 

Oxford University Hospitals NHS Trust. 
 
Name of Health & Wellbeing 
Board  

 Oxfordshire Health and Wellbeing Board. 

Name of Provider organisation  Oxford University Hospitals NHS Trust. 
Name of Provider CEO  Sir Jonathan Michael. 

Signature (electronic or typed)   
 
For HWB to populate: 
Total number of 
non-elective 
FFCEs in general & 
acute 
 
 

2013/14 Outturn   
2014/15 Plan   
2015/16 Plan   
14/15 Change compared to 13/14 
outturn   

15/16 Change compared to planned 
14/15 outturn   

How many non-elective admissions is 
the BCF planned to prevent in 14-15?   

How many non-elective admissions is 
the BCF planned to prevent in 15-16?   

 
For Provider to populate: 
   
  Question Response  

1. 

Do you agree with the data 
above relating to the impact of 
the BCF in terms of a reduction 
in non-elective (general and 
acute) admissions in 15/16 
compared to planned 14/15 
outturn? 

  

2. 

If you answered 'no' to Q.2 
above, please explain why you 
do not agree with the projected 
impact?  

 

3. 

Can you confirm that you have 
considered the resultant 
implications on services 
provided by your organisation? 

  

 
 

Page 84



Health and Wellbeing Board Details ROCR approval applied for

Version 2
Please select Health and Wellbeing Board:

Oxfordshire E10000025

Please provide:
Gareth Kenworthy

gareth.kenworthy@oxfordshireccg.nhs.uk

P
age 85



Health and Wellbeing Board Payment for Performance
There is no need to enter any data on this sheet. All values will be populated from entries elsewhere in the template

Oxfordshire

1. Reduction in non elective activity Numbers
Q4 14/15 Q1 15/16 Q2 15/16 Q3 15/16

Baseline of Non Elective Activity (Q4 13/14 - Q3 14/15) 50,645 Cumulative Quarterly Baseline of Non Elective Activity 12,768 25,071 37,749 50,645

Change in Non Elective Activity -995 Cumulative Change in Non Elective Activity 32 29 -299 -995 

% Change in Non Elective Activity -2.0% Cumulative % Change in Non Elective Activity 0.1% 0.1% -0.6% -2.0%

2. Calculation of Performance and NHS Commissioned Ringfenced Funds
Figures in £

Financial Value of Non Elective Saving/ Performance Fund 1,482,550 Financial Value of Non Elective Saving/ Performance Fund (£) 0 0 445,510 1,037,040

Combined total of Performance and Ringfenced Funds 9,796,821

Ringfenced Fund 8,314,271

Value of NHS Commissioned Services 12,545,000

Shortfall of Contribution to NHS Commissioned Services 0

2015/16 Quarterly Breakdown of P4P

P
age 86



Health and Wellbeing Funding Sources

Oxfordshire E10000025

Please complete white cells

Headings 2014/15 2015/16
Local Authority Social Services
Oxfordshire 1,276
Oxfordshire 2,401
<Please select Local Authority>
<Please select Local Authority>
<Please select Local Authority>
<Please select Local Authority>
<Please select Local Authority>
Total Local Authority Contribution - 3,677

CCG Minimum Contribution
NHS Swindon CCG 353
NHS Oxfordshire CCG 33,120
NHS Aylesbury Vale CCG 424
- -
- -
- -
- -
Total Minimum CCG Contribution - 33,897

Additional CCG Contribution
<Please Select CCG>
<Please Select CCG>
<Please Select CCG>
<Please Select CCG>
<Please Select CCG>
<Please Select CCG>
<Please Select CCG>
Total Additional CCG Contribution - -

Total Contribution - 37,574

Gross Contribution (£000)

Page 87



Summary of Health and Wellbeing Board Schemes

Oxfordshire

Please complete white cells

Summary of Total BCF Expenditure
Figures in £000

Headings 2014/15 2015/16 2014/15 2015/16 subcode
B01

Acute  -  - 100
Mental Health  -  - 101
Community Health  - 5,198 102
Continuing Care  -  - 103
Primary Care  - 1,077 104
Social Care 10,502 26,329 2,300 10,300 105
Other  - 4,970 106
Total 10,502 37,574 10,300 TT1

Summary of NHS Commissioned out of hospital services spend from MINIMUM BCF Pool
Figures in £000

Headings 2015/16 subcode
B01
B01

Mental Health  - 100
Community Health 5,198 101
Continuing Care  - 102
Primary Care 1,077 103
Social Care 1,300 104
Other 4,970 105
Total 12,545 TT1

TT1

Summary of Benefits
Figures in £000

From 5.HWB 
P4P metric

Headings 2014/15 vs 2015/16 vs 2015/16 Subcode
Reduction in permanent residential admissions  - 744 100
Increased effectiveness of reablement  - 5,398 101
Reduction in delayed transfers of care  - 1,682 102
Reduction in non-elective (general + acute only)  - 5,066 1,483 103
Other  - 1,499 104
Total  - 14,389 1,483 TT1

£8m as D18 also includes care act, reablement and other joint budgets  

From 3. HWB Expenditure 
Plan

From 4. HWB Benefits

From 3. HWB Expenditure 

If different to the figure in cell D18, please indicate the total amount 
from the BCF that has been allocated for the protection of adult social 
care services

Please confirm the amount 
allocated for the protection 

of adult social care

P
age 88



Scheme Name Area of Spend Please specify if Other Commissioner if Joint % NHS if Joint % LA Provider Source of Funding
2014/15 
(£000)

2015/16 
(£000)

Care Closer to Home - Advance Care Plans Primary Care CCG <Please select> <Please select>  -       
Support to Care Homes Primary Care CCG <Please select> CCG Minimum Contribution 1,077
Integrated Community Locality Teams Community Health CCG NHS Community Provider CCG Minimum Contribution 82
Emergency Multi Disciplnary Units (EMUs) Community Health CCG NHS Community Provider CCG Minimum Contribution 2,216
Ambulatory Emergency Care Acute CCG NHS Community Provider CCG Minimum Contribution  -
Primary Care Out of Hours and Escalation Community Health CCG NHS Community Provider CCG Minimum Contribution  -
Reablement Pathway Social Care Local Authority NHS Community Provider CCG Minimum Contribution  - 1,500
Supported Hospital Discharge Service Community Health CCG NHS Acute Provider CCG Minimum Contribution  - 1,500
Reducing DToC Community Health CCG NHS Acute Provider CCG Minimum Contribution  -
Adult Social Care - Care Home Placements Social Care Local Authority Private Sector CCG Minimum Contribution 1,882 1,882
Adult Social Care - Home Support Packages Social Care Local Authority Private Sector CCG Minimum Contribution 2,470 2,470
Adult Social Care - Alert Service Social Care Local Authority Private Sector CCG Minimum Contribution 300 300
Adult Social Care - Crisis Service Social Care Local Authority Private Sector CCG Minimum Contribution 500 500
Adult Social Care - Intermediate Care Social Care Local Authority Private Sector CCG Minimum Contribution 400 400
Equipment & Discharge to Assess contract Social Care Local Authority Private Sector CCG Minimum Contribution 2,650 2,650
Support to Adult Social Care Services Social Care Local Authority Private Sector CCG Minimum Contribution 2,300 10,300
Carers Breaks Social Care CCG Charity/Voluntary Sector CCG Minimum Contribution 1,300
Implementation of the Care Act Social Care Local Authority Local Authority CCG Minimum Contribution 1,350
Oxfordshire Care Summary - IT Enabler Other IT infrastructure spend CCG CCG CCG Minimum Contribution 537
Hospital at Home Community Health CCG NHS Community Provider CCG Minimum Contribution 1,400
Risk/Investment Reserve Other Risk and/or investment reserve CCG NHS Acute Provider CCG Minimum Contribution 4,433
Disabled Facilities Grant Social Care Local Authority Private Sector Local Authority Social Services 2,401
Extra Care Housing and Supported Living Social Care Local Authority Private Sector Local Authority Social Services 1,276

Total 10,502 37,574

Expenditure

P
age 89



Health and Wellbeing Board Financial Benefits Plan

Oxfordshire

2014/15
Please complete white cells (for as many rows as required):

Benefit achieved from If other please specifiy Scheme Name Organisation to Benefit

Change in 
activity 

measure

Unit
 Price 

(£)
Total (Saving) 

(£) How was the saving value calculated?
How will the savings against plan be 
monitored?

 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -

Total  -  -  -  -  -  -

2014/15

If you would prefer to provide aggregated figures for the savings (columns F-J), for a group of schemes related to one benefit type (e.g. delayed transfers of 
care), rather than filling in figures against each of your individual schemes, then you may do so. 

If so, please do this as a separate row entitled “Aggregated benefit of schemes for X”, completing columns D, F, G, I and J for that row. But please make sure 
you do not enter values against both the individual schemes you have listed, and the “aggregated benefit” line. This is to avoid double counting the benefits.

However, if the aggregated benefits fall to different organisations (e.g. some to the CCG and some to the local authority) then you will need to provide one row 
for the aggregated benefits to each type of organisation (identifying the type of organisation in column D) with values entered in columns F-J. 

P
age 90



2015/16

Benefit achieved from Scheme Name Organisation to Benefit

Change in 
activity 
measure

Unit Price 
(£) Total (Saving) (£) How was the saving value calculated?

How will the savings against plan be 
monitored?

Reduction in non-elective (general + acute only) Integrated Community Locality Teams NHS Commissioner 580 864 864,200

reduction of NEL on a avarage cost of £1490, 
bu the new integrated neighbourhood teams, 
each preventing one admission per week 

Reduction in non-elective (general + acute only) Care Closer to Home NHS Commissioner 1,700 1,490 2,533,000

Reduction in non-elective admissions based 
on an average cost of £1490
5% reduction in NEL admission of the top 2% 
of people on the register of most at risk of 
emergency admission.
29% reduction in NEL admission of residents 
to care / nursing homes

ICD10 codes for patients with Advanced Care 
Plans identified through ACG as high risk of 
admission to be tracked through data 
collection to monitor reduction in activity.
Residents of care / nursing homes to be 
tracked through data collection to monitor 
reduction in activity

 -
 -
 -

Other
Transfer of patients to short stay / best 
practice tariff Ambulatory Emergency Care NHS Commissioner 2,279 156 355,524

Financial savings have been calculated based 
on the following assumptions and calculations: 

• Shifted ambulatory care activity will be paid 
at either an Ambulatory Best Practice Tariff for 
zero day LOS where this is available or to a 
Reduced Short Stay Tariff. 

HRG codes identified to be monitored to map 
the increase in same day treatment reducing 
Length of Stay to 0 days

Other <Please specify> Primary Care Out of Hours and Escalation NHS Commissioner 11,200 65 722,400

Extended opening of GP practices and use of 
duty doctor at practices closest to EDs to 
support ED turnaround and offer patients 
alternative to ED attendance. £200 per hour 
cost, to include receptionist, 1 nurse and 1 GP 
for 3.5 hours (1830-2200).

Either offering 4 practices (two in Oxford, two 
in Banbury) an evening, or 2 sets of staff in 
one practice; Total cost = £800 per evening 
for 80 days a year = £64,000

Staff will divert approximately 10 patients per 
hour (c. 6 per GP and c. 4 per nurse) = 35 
patients per night per practice = 140 patients 
total. 140 patients for 80 days a year = 11,200 
patients

£64.50 estimated as average cost of minor 
ED attendance (VB09Z Cat 1 investigation 
with Cat 1-2 treatment = £72) ; (VB11Z No 
investigation with no significant treatment = 
£57).

11,200 patients avoiding ED attendance at an 
average cost of £64.50 = £722,400. Cost 
saving  of reduced A&E attendances = 
£658,400

1% reduction in non-elective admissions from 
this cohort of patients = 112 admissions 
avoided. Overnight estimated cost of NEL 
admission = £500. Savings associated with 
NEL admission reduction = £56,000

Monitoring of HRG activity within ED (VB09Z 
Cat 1 investigation with Cat 1-2 treatment) ; 
(VB11Z No investigation with no significant 
treatment).

Other <Please specify>
Enhanced Support for COPD in Primary 
Care NHS Provider 201 2,095 421,095

Average cost of non elective spell for COPD 
is £2094.78. This is based on a 25% reduction 
of 50% of practice uptake

2015/16

P
age 91



 -
 -

Reduction in delayed transfers of care Integrated Community Locality Teams NHS Commissioner 2,340 500 1,170,000
Reduction of Days delayed in Hospital Bed, 
each team reducing by 3 days delay per week

Reduction in permanent residential admissions Integrated Community Locality Teams Local Authority 26 28,600 743,600
Reduction of Admissions to care Homes by 
0.5 per week on average

 -

Increased effectiveness of reablement reablement pathway - activity Local Authority 1,642 304 499,168

Increased reablement activity by 1642.  based 
on current performance to be achevied by 
integrtation of SHDs service and improved 
ORS performance

Reduction in non-elective (general + acute only) reablement pathway - NEL reduction NHS Commissioner 670 998,300

increased reablement activity will be focused 
on community referrals.  1243 eplisodes.  
Assumed that 55% of these referrals would 
end up as NEL

Increased effectiveness of reablement
reablement pathway - reduction in long 
term care costs Local Authority 369 13,260 4,898,907

additional reablement will reduce the number 
of long term care package requirements.  
Assumed that 45% of the additonal capacity 
will have an ongoing care need in line with 
guidance.  Average cost is £255 per week for 
Home Support

 -

Reduction in non-elective (general + acute only) EMU 450 670,500

Based on   75 are admission avoidance per 
week across the 2 EMUs.  Cost of new EMUs 
not included in savings

contract management of new service.  
Contract will contain payments based clauses 
on acheviement of these outcomes

 -

Reduction in delayed transfers of care DTOC - Choice Policy NHS Provider 192 500 96,000

The saving will be in bed days freed up by 
reduction in LOS of G code delays. There are 
on average 8 to 10 of these in Community 
Hospitals at any one time- Revising the 
Choice Policy will save 2 days per Choice 
delay across the system for community 
hospitals and it is estimated there will be 5 
Choice delays per month that stay longer than 
a week. Therefore there could be 120 days 
saved per year in Community Hospitals.

Number of patients discharged from bedded 
care with reduced LOS

Reduction in delayed transfers of care
DTOC - Building a strategic relationship 
with care and residential agencies Local Authority 416 500 208,000

Improving the time within which care homes 
undertake assessments will save 8 days of 
delay per week across the system. 8 days for 
52 weeks = 416 days of Excess bed Days 
reduced

Number of patients discharged from bedded 
care with reduced LOS

Reduction in delayed transfers of care
DTOC - Improving the transactional 
assessment process NHS Provider 208 500 104,000

Revising the transactional assessment 
process will save 4 days of delay per week 
across the system. 4 days for 52 weeks = 208 
days of Excess bed Days reduced

Number of patients discharged from bedded 
care with reduced LOS

Reduction in delayed transfers of care DTOC - Continuing Care Overhaul NHS Provider 208 500 104,000

Revising the continuing care process will save 
4 days of delay per week across the system. 4 
days for 52 weeks = 208 days of Excess bed 
Days reduced

Number of patients discharged from bedded 
care with reduced LOS

P
age 92



Reduction in delayed transfers of care DTOC - Homeless discharge pathway Local Authority  -
Reduction in delayed transfers of care DTOC - Housing pathway Local Authority  -

 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -
 -

Total  - 22,481 49,334 14,388,694  -  -

P
age 93



Oxfordshire Red triangles indicate comments

Planned deterioration on baseline (or validity issue)
Planned improvement on baseline of less than 3.5%
Planned improvement on baseline of 3.5% or more

Non - Elective admissions (general and acute)

Quarterly rate                  1,911                1,841                 1,897                   1,930                    1,904                  1,830                 1,837                 1,815                 1,847 The 
ti l Numerator                12,768              12,303                12,678                 12,896                  12,800                 12,300               12,350               12,200               12,500 

Denominator              668,171            668,171              668,171               668,171                672,255               672,255             672,255             672,255             676,596 

-995

-2.0%

£1,482,550 £1,490 National average cost of non-elective admission1. 

The figures above are mapped from the following CCG operational plans. If any CCG plans are updated then the white cells can be revised:

Q4 
(Jan 14 - Mar 14)

Q1
(Apr 14 - Jun 14)

Q2
(Jul 14 - Sep 14)

Q3
(Oct 14 - Dec 14)

Q4 
(Jan 14 - Mar 14)

Q1
(Apr 14 - Jun 14)

Q2
(Jul 14 - Sep 14)

Q3
(Oct 14 - Dec 14)

4,038               4,428              4,468               4,479                6.3% 1.8% 253                  278                  280                  281                 1
14,077              12,655            12,904             14,008              0.2% 0.2% 27                   24                   24                   27                   2
14,986              13,008            13,326             14,069              0.1% 0.1% 15                   13                   13                   14                   3
1,789               1,892              1,851               1,936                0.1% 0.0% 2                     2                     2                     2                    4
1,734               1,795              1,739               1,821                2.0% 0.3% 35                   36                   35                   37                   5

12,603              12,120            12,501             12,700              97.3% 96.6% 12,264             11,794             12,165             12,359            6
5,966               6,024              6,090               6,090                0.7% 0.3% 41                   41                   42                   42                   7
5,287               4,605              4,689               5,454                2.5% 0.8% 131                  114                  116                  135                 8

9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21

100% 12,768             12,303             12,678             12,896            

References
1.  Based on 12-13 Reference Costs:  average cost of a non-elective inpatient short and long stay combined excluding excess bed days. https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment data/file/261154/nhs reference costs 2012-13 acc.pdf 

Please complete the five white cells in the Non-Elective admissions table. Other white cells can be completed/revised as appropriate.

Total non-elective admissions in to 
hospital (general & acute), all-age, 
per 100,000 population 

  Q3
(Oct 14 - Dec 14)

  Q4
(Jan 15 - Mar 15)

  Q1
(Apr 15 - Jun 15)

Metric   Q1
(Apr 14 - Jun 14)

  Q2
(Jul 14 - Sep 14)

  Q4
(Jan 14 - Mar 14)

Baseline (14-15 figures are CCG plans)

NHS Oxfordshire CCG
NHS South Warwickshire CCG

Contributing CCGs

% Oxfordshire 
resident 

population that is 
in CCG registered 

population

% CCG registered 
population that has 
resident population 

in Oxfordshire

CCG  baseline activity (14-15 figures are CCG plans)

NHS North & West Reading CCG
NHS Newbury and District CCG

NHS Nene CCG
NHS Gloucestershire CCG
NHS Aylesbury Vale CCG

Rationale for 
red/amber 

ratings

Total

NHS Swindon CCG

Contributing CCG activity

Pay for performance period

P4P annual saving

P4P annual change in admissions (%)

P4P annual change in admissions

  Q3
(Oct 15 - Dec 15)

  Q4
(Jan 16 - Mar 16)

  Q2
(Jul 15 - Sep 15)

P
age 94



Oxfordshire Red triangles indicate comments

Planned deterioration on baseline (or validity issue)
Planned improvement on baseline

Residential admissions

Annual rate                              574.2                        471.9                         437.8 
Numerator                                 625                           546                            520 
Denominator                          109,015                    115,693                     118,780 

Annual change -79 -26 

Annual change (%) -12.6% -4.8%

Reablement

Annual %                                86.2                          82.1                           83.2 
Numerator                                 375                           385                            390 
Denominator                                 435                           469                            469 

Annual change 10 5

Annual change (%) 2.7% 1.3%

Delayed transfers of care

Quarterly rate                           2,530.5                     2,663.5                      2,557.2                    2,464.8                    1,636.2                    1,636.2                          1,636.2                         1,707.9                    1,626.4                    1,626.4                      1,626.4                        1,697.7 
Numerator                            13,307                      14,006                       13,447                     12,984                       8,619                       8,619                             8,619                            9,051                       8,619                       8,619                         8,619                           9,051 
Denominator                          525,858                    525,858                     525,858                   526,767                   526,767                   526,767                         526,767                        529,941                   529,941                   529,941                     529,941                       533,140 

Annual change -18836 Annual change 0

Annual change (%) -35.0% Annual change (%) 0.0%

Patient / Service User Experience Metric
Baseline

[enter time period]

Metric Value

Numerator

Denominator

Improvement indicated by: <Please select>

Local Metric
Baseline

[enter time period]

Metric Value 60.0 61.9 62.8
Numerator                              2,122                        2,301                    2,391.00 
Denominator                              3,537                        3,716                         3,806 

Improvement indicated by: <Please select>

References/notes

WŽƉƵůĂƚŝŽŶ�ƉƌŽũĞĐƚŝŽŶƐ�ĂƌĞ�ďĂƐĞĚ�ŽŶ�^ƵďŶĂƚŝŽŶĂů�WŽƉƵůĂƚŝŽŶ�WƌŽũĞĐƚŝŽŶƐ͕�/ŶƚĞƌŝŵ�ϮϬϭϮͲďĂƐĞĚ�;ƉƵďůŝƐŚĞĚ�DĂǇ�ϮϬϭϰͿ฀

ϭ͘���ĂƐĞĚ�ŽŶ�ΗWĞƌƐŽŶĂů�^ŽĐŝĂů�^ĞƌǀŝĐĞƐ͗��ǆƉĞŶĚŝƚƵƌĞ�ĂŶĚ�hŶŝƚ��ŽƐƚƐ͕��ŶŐůĂŶĚ฀ϮϬϭϮͲϭϯΗ�;,^�/�Ϳ�ŚƚƚƉ͗ͬͬǁǁǁ͘ŚƐĐŝĐ͘ŐŽǀ͘ ƵŬͬĐĂƚĂůŽŐƵĞͬWh�ϭϯϬϴϱͬƉƐƐͲĞǆƉͲĞŶŐͲϭϮͲϭϯͲĨŝŶͲƌƉƚ͘ƉĚĨ
2.  There is no robust national source for the average annual saving due to being at home 91 days after discharge from hospital in to reablement / rehabilitation services. Therefore HWBs should provide the estimate that underpins their planned financial savings, which it is assumed will include the impact of reduction admissions to hospital and to residential care
3.  Based on 12-13 Reference Costs:  average cost of an excess bed day. https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/261154/nhs_reference_costs_2012-13_acc.pdf 

Please complete all white cells in tables. Other white cells should be completed/revised as appropriate.

[please insert metric description]

Increase the proportion of older people (aged 65 and 
over) with an ongoing care package supported to live at 
home
Numerator: Number of people receiving home care or an 

  Q2
(Jul 14 - Sep 14)

  Q1
(Apr 14 - Jun 14)

Rationale for red 
rating

Rationale for 
red ratings

Metric

Delayed transfers of care (delayed days) from hospital 
per 100,000 population (aged 18+).

Planned 15/16Planned 14/15 
(if available)

Planned 14/15 
(if available)

Planned 15/16
Metric

Metric

13-14 Baseline 14/15 plans 15-16 plans

 Q1
(Apr 13 - Jun 13)

 Q2
(Jul 13 - Sep 13)

 Q3
(Oct 13 - Dec 13)

 Q4
(Jan 14 - Mar 14)

  Q4
(Jan 16 - Mar 16)

  Q3
(Oct 15 - Dec 15)

  Q2
(Jul 15 - Sep 15)

  Q1
(Apr 15 - Jun 15)

  Q4
(Jan 15 - Mar 15)

  Q3
(Oct 14 - Dec 14)

Proportion of older people (65 and over) who were still at 
home 91 days after discharge from hospital into 
reablement / rehabilitation services

Rationale for red 
ratingPermanent admissions of older people (aged 65 and 

over) to residential and nursing care homes, per 100,000 
population

3ODQQHG�฀�����

Metric
Baseline
(2013/14)

Planned 
14/15

Planned 15/16

Metric
Baseline
(2013/14)

Planned 15/16

P
age 95



No cells need to be completed in this tab. However, 2014-15 and 2015-16 projected counts for each metric can be overwritten (white cells) if areas wish to set their own projections.

Non-elective admissions (general and acute)
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12

Historic Baseline Projection

13-14 Q1 13-14 Q2 13-14 Q3 13-14 Q4 14-15 Q1 14-15 Q2 14-15 Q3 14-15 Q4 15-16 Q1 15-16 Q2 15-16 Q3 15-16 Q4

Total non-elective admissions (general & acute), all-age No. of admissions - 
historic and projected

12,669 12,912 13,056 12,768 12,303 12,678 12,896 12,678 12,658 12,639 12,620 12,600

Planned (from 'HWB P4P  12,669             12,912             13,056             12,768             12,303             12,678             12,896             12,800 12,300 12,350 12,200 12,500

Projected 

2014 -2015 2015-16 2015-16 2015-16 2015-16
Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Quarterly rate 1,897.3 1,883.0 1,880.1 1,877.2 1,862.3
Numerator 12,678 12,658 12,639 12,620 12,600
Denominator 668,171 672,255 672,255 672,255 676,596

* The projected rates are based on annual population projections and therefore will not change linearly

Residential admissions
1 2 3 4 5

2011-12 2012-13 2014-15 2015-16
Historic historic Projected Projected

Historic and projected 
annual rate               532               534               574              589              610 

Numerator               555               580               625              681              724 
Denominator        104,640        109,015        109,015       115,693       118,780 
Planned (from ''HWB Sup   532                  534                  574                  472                  438                  

This is based on a simple projection of the metric proportion.

Reablement
1 2 3 4 5

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16
Historic Historic Baseline Projected Projected

Historic and projected 
annual % 85.2 71.7 86.2             82.0             82.5 
Numerator 525 345 375              357              359 
Denominator 615 480 435 435 435

Planned (from ''HWB Sup   85.2                 71.7                 86.2                 82.1                 83.2                 

Delayed transfers

Aug-10 Sep-10 Oct-10 Nov-10 Dec-10 Jan-11 Feb-11 Mar-11 Apr-11 May-11 Jun-11 Jul-11
Delayed transfers of care (delayed days) from hospital Historic and projected 

delayed transfers 3,327 4,621 4,992 4,583 4,932 3,486 3,154 4,742 4,029 4,075 3,565 4,196
Planned (from ''HWB Sup   3,327               4,621               4,992               4,583               4,932               3,486               3,154               4,742               4,029           4,075              3,565              4,196               

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Quarterly rate 2,683.9 2,686.0 2,688.0 2,674.0 2,676.0 2,678.1 2,680.1 2,666.0
Numerator 14,138 14,149 14,160 14,170 14,181 14,192 14,203 14,214
Denominator 526,767 526,767 526,767 529,941 529,941 529,941 529,941 533,140

* The projected rates are based on annual population projections and therefore will not change linearly

Delayed transfers of care (delayed days) from hospital 
per 100,000 population (aged 18+).

Metric

Projected rates*

2014-15 2015-16

Metric

Metric
Historic

This is based on a simple projection of the metric proportion, and an 
unchanging denominator (number of people offered reablement)

Oxfordshire

Metric

Permanent admissions of older people (aged 65 and 
over) to residential and nursing care homes, per 100,000 
population

Metric

Proportion of older people (65 and over) who were still at 
home 91 days after discharge from hospital into 
reablement / rehabilitation services

To support finalisation of plans, we have provided estimates  of future performance, based on a simple ‘straight line’ projection of historic data for each metric.  We recognise that these are 
crude methodologies, but it may be useful to consider when setting your plans for each of the national metrics in 2014/15 and 2015/16. As part of the assurance process centrally we will 
be looking at plans compared to the counterfactual (what the performance might have been if there was no BCF). 

Metric

Total non-elective admissions (general & acute), all-age

2013-14 
baseline

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14
baseline

2014-15 2015-16

Ra
te

 p
er

 1
00

,0
00

 Historic and
projected annual
rate

Planned (from ''HWB
Supporting Metrics'
tab)

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80
90

100

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

Pr
op

or
tio

n Historic and
projected annual %

Planned (from
''HWB Supporting
Metrics' tab)

 -

 1,000

 2,000

 3,000

 4,000

 5,000

 6,000

 7,000

Co
un

t 

Historic and
projected
delayed
transfers

Planned (from
''HWB
Supporting
Metrics' tab)

 11,600

 11,800

 12,000

 12,200

 12,400

 12,600

 12,800

 13,000

 13,200

13-14 Q1 13-14 Q2 13-14 Q3 13-14 Q4 14-15 Q1 14-15 Q2 14-15 Q3 14-15 Q4 15-16 Q1 15-16 Q2 15-16 Q3 15-16 Q4

N
o.

 o
f n

on
-e

le
ct

iv
e 

ad
m

is
si

on
s 

No. of admissions -
historic and projected

Planned (from 'HWB P4P
metric' tab)

Linear (No. of admissions
- historic and projected)

Page 96



HWB Financial Plan

Date Sheet Cells Description
28/07/2014 Payment for Performance B23 formula modified to =IF(B21-B19<0,0,B21-B19)
28/07/2014 1. HWB Funding Sources C27 formula modified to =SUM(C20:C26)

28/07/2014 HWB ID J2 Changed to Version 2
28/07/2014 a Various Data mapped correctly for Bournemouth & Poole 
29/07/2014 a AP1:AP348 Allocation updated for changes
28/07/2014 All sheets Columns Allowed to modify column width if required
30/07/2014 8. Non elective admissions - CCG Updated CCG plans for Wolverhampton, Ashford and Canterbury CCGs
30/07/2014 6. HWB supporting metrics D18 Updated conditional formatting to not show green if baseline is 0
30/07/2014 6. HWB supporting metrics D19 Comment added
30/07/2014 7. Metric trends K11:O11, G43:H43,G66:H66 Updated forecast formulas
30/07/2014 Data Various Changed a couple of 'dashes' to zeros
30/07/2014 5. HWB P4P metric H14 Removed rounding 
31/07/2014 1. HWB Funding Sources A48:C54 Unprotect cells and allow entry
01/08/2014 5. HWB P4P metric G10:K10 Updated conditional formatting

01/08/2014 5. HWB P4P metric H13
formula modified to 
=IF(OR(G10<0,H10<0,I10<0,J10<0),"",IF(OR(ISTEXT(G10),ISTEXT(H10),ISTEXT(I10),ISTEXT(J10)),"",IF(SUM(G10:J10)=0,"",(SUM(G10:J10)/SUM(C10:F10))-1)))

01/08/2014 5. HWB P4P metric H13 Apply conditional formatting
01/08/2014 5. HWB P4P metric H14 formula modified to =if(H13="","",-H12*J14)
01/08/2014 4. HWB Benefits Plan J69:J118 Remove formula
01/08/2014 4. HWB Benefits Plan B11:B60, B69:B118 Texted modified

P
age 97



P
age 98

T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Better Care Fund 2014/15 and 2015/16
	HWB_JAN0815R03 - Appendix A
	HWB_JAN0815R04 - Appendix B


